

Εθνικό και Καποδιστριακό Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών

ΤΜΗΜΑ ΙΑΤΡΙΚΗΣ

ΜΕΤΑΠΤΥΧΙΑΚΟ ΠΡΟΓΡΑΜΜΑ ΣΠΟΥΔΩΝ

«ΑΚΟΟΛΟΓΙΑ-ΝΕΥΡΟΩΤΟΛΟΓΙΑ

ΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΟΝΙΚΟΣ ΥΠΕΥΘΥΝΟΣ

ΚΑΘΗΓΗΤΗΣ ΝΙΚΟΛΟΠΟΥΛΟΣ ΘΩΜΑΣ

ΜΕΤΑΠΤΥΧΙΑΚΗ ΔΙΠΛΩΜΑΤΙΚΗ ΕΡΓΑΣΙΑ

της κα Ευθυμίου Χριστίνα

με θέμα:

Auditory Neuropathy: A review of the Literature.

Ακαδημαϊκό Έτος 2018-2019

Επιβλέπων: Νικολόπουλος Θωμάς, Καθηγητής ΕΚΠΑ

Τριμελής εξεταστική επιτροπή:

Νικολόπουλος Θωμάς Καθηγητής ΩΡΛ ΕΚΠΑ Μαραγκουδακης Παυλος Επίκουρος Καθηγητής ΩΡΛ ΕΚΠΑ Δελιδης Αλεξανδρος, Επίκουρος Καθηγητής ΩΡΛ ΕΚΠΑ

Πρόλογος

Ο σκοπός μου κατά τη διάρκεια της συγγραφής της βιβλιογραφικής ανασκόπησης με τίτλο «Ακουστική νευροπάθεια: Βιβλιογραφική ανασκόπηση» είναι η επισήμανση και αξιολόγηση όλων των διαθέσιμων δημοσιευμένων δεδομένων για την ακουστική νευροπάθεια, ώστε να δοθεί μια ενημέρωση για τους έως τώρα γνωστούς παθοφυσιολογικούς μηχανισμούς, τα αντίστοιχα κλινικά ευρήματα και διαγνωστικά κριτήρια αυτής της ασθένειας. Λόγω των πολλών ανεπίλυτων αντιπαραθέσεων στην βιβλιογραφία για την ακτιμετώπιση της ακουστικής νευροπάθειας, ο στόχος μου είναι επιπλέον, να προσδιοριστούν οι τρέχουσες καθώς και οι μελλοντικές θεραπευτικές στρατηγικές με ορθή και όσο το δυνατόν πληρέστερη ανάλυση του θέματος. Επίσης, θα αξιολογηθούν τα οφέλη της κοχλιακής εμφύτευσης σε άτομα με ακουστική νευροπάθεια, προκειμένου να απαντηθεί ένα κλινικό ερώτημα: Ποια είναι η αποτελεσματικότητα της κοχλιακής εμφύτευσης στην ακουστική ικανότητα και στην επικοινωνία, σε ασθενείς με ακουστική νευροπάθεια;

Ευχαριστίες/Acknowledgements

Η παρούσα πτυχιακή εργασία με θέμα «Ακουστική Νευροπάθεια: Βιβλιογραφική ανασκόπηση» μου ανατέθηκε στα πλαίσια του Μεταπτυχιακού Προγράμματος Σπουδών στην Ακοολογία – Νευροωτολογία της Ιατρικής Σχολής του Εθνικού και Καποδιστριακού Πανεπιστήμιο Αθηνών, με επιβλέποντα τον Καθηγητή τον κ. Νικολόπουλο Θωμά.

Μετά την ολοκλήρωση της πτυχιακής εργασίας μου αισθάνομαι την ανάγκη να εκφράσω τις ειλικρινείς και θερμές ευχαριστίες μου σε όσους συνέβαλαν στην ολοκλήρωση αυτής της προσπάθειας:

Πρώτα απ' όλα στον Καθηγητή τον κ Νικολόπουλο Θωμά για την συνεχή καθοδήγηση, την αμέριστη υποστήριξη, τις ουσιώδεις συμβουλές, την ενθάρρυνση και συμπαράσταση καθ' όλη τη διάρκεια εκπόνησης της εργασίας αυτής. Επίσης, θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω τον Αναπληρωτή Καθηγητή τον κ Μπίμπα Θάνο μαζί με τον κ Νικολόπουλο που μου έδωσαν αυτήν την πολύτιμη ευκαιρία να συμμετέχω σε αυτό το Μεταπτυχιακό Πρόγραμμα Σπουδών.

Επιπλέον, θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω θερμά τον συμμαθητή μου τον κ Γκερμπεσιώτη Παναγιώτη, χειρουργός ΩΡΛ στο Ναυτικό νοσοκομείο Αθηνών, και την κ Φίλη Ελένη από την βιβλιοθήκη του Γ.Ν.Ν.Θ.Α. «Η Σωτηρία», για την πολύτιμη βοήθεια τους σχετικά με την ανεύρεση βιβλιογραφικού υλικού.

Τέλος, θέλω να ευχαριστήσω όλους εκείνους που με την καθημερινή τους συμπαράσταση, την αδιάκοπη ενθάρρυνση, την υπομονή τους και την θετική τους σκέψη συνέβαλαν στην εκπλήρωση του στόχου μου και την ολοκλήρωση της πτυχιακής εργασίας μου: τον σύζυγο μου, την οικογένεια μου, τους φίλους και συναδέλφους μου.

> Χριστίνα Ευθυμίου Αθήνα, 2019

Abstract

Auditory Neuropathy: A review of the Literature.

Introduction

Auditory neuropathy (AN) or auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder (ANSD) is a recently described form of hearing impairment where neural dys-synchrony and deterioration of temporal processing is the predominant characteristic. This condition is a clinical entity which is caused by abnormal neural encoding of sound stimuli despite preservation of sensory transduction and amplification by the outer hair cells. Auditory neuropathy can be caused by damage to the sensory inner hair cells, IHC ribbon synapses or spiral ganglion neurons.

Objective

This review of the literature aims to attain all available published evidence on auditory neuropathy in order to provide an update on recently elucidated pathophysiological mechanisms such as sensory, synaptic and neural mechanisms of this disease. The corresponding clinical findings and diagnostic criteria of AN will be identified and current rehabilitation strategies as well as future therapies will be discussed. Moreover, the role and the benefits of cochlear implantation (CI) in AN individuals will be evaluated in order to answer one clinical question: For individuals with the diagnosis of an auditory neuropathy, what is the effect of cochlear implantation on hearing and communication skills?

Methods

A review of the literature was conducted using the PUBMED, EMBASE, ERIC (Education Resources Information Center) and COCHRANE CENTRAL databases to encompass English and Greek articles from 1990 to January 2019. Terms such as "auditory neuropathy", "auditory, neuropathy spectrum disorder", and AN linked with key words such as "epidemiology", "etiology", "pathophysiology", "diagnosis", "management" and "cochlear implants" were used. The selection of articles followed screening for eligibility for inclusion, based on issues related to the objective of this review of the literature.

Results

A total of 299 studies that illustrate their insight on the diagnosis, pathophysiology, epidemiology, the risk factors and the etiology of auditory neuropathy were included in this literature review. 75 studies were included in the literature review, applicable to answer the posed question, regarding cochlear implants and their effects on hearing and communication skills in patients with AN. A total of 57 articles reported a significant advantage in the management of auditory neuropathy with CI, presenting improved auditory skills and language development in implanted AN patients. The remaining 17 studies demonstrated that although cochlear implantation offers the possibility of speech perception and improved hearing skills to subjects with AN, the benefit depends on the site of the lesion and confounding disorders.

Conclusion

Auditory neuropathy is not a rare disorder, especially amongst hearing-impaired children. The absence of an auditory brainstem response (ABR) and the presence of otoacoustic emissions (OAE) indicate an AN profile, but determining the exact anatomical site of the disorder, requires more in-depth audiological and electrophysiological tests combined with imaging and genetic evaluations. Timely and adequate treatment is of utmost importance, even though it still remains a challenge for the clinicians, as current hearing aid technology is not able to enhance the temporal envelope of the speech signal to compensate for temporal processing deficits associated with AN. The data gleaned in this review of the literature support the conclusion that cochlear implantation (CI) positively affects hearing and communication skills in AN individuals and even patients with mild to moderate hearing abilities with poor speech intelligibility, should be candidates for CI as they will benefit significantly in improved conversational speech discrimination post-surgically. However due to the heterogeneity of this disorder special consideration is required when undertaking hearing rehabilitation and cochlear implantation in AN patients.

Keywords: Auditory neuropathy, Auditory dys-synchrony, Hearing aids, Cochlear implants.

Περίληψη

Ακουστική Νευροπάθεια: Βιβλιογραφική ανασκόπηση

Εισαγωγή

Η ακουστική νευροπάθεια(AN) ή ακουστικός από-συγχρονισμός (ANSD), είναι μια διαταραχή που έχει περιγραφεί πρόσφατα και πρόκειται για παθολογική κατάσταση που αφορά την νευρική επεξεργασία των ακουστικών ερεθισμάτων. Αυτή η διαταραχή προκαλείται από μη φυσιολογική κωδικοποίηση ηχητικών ερεθισμάτων παρά τη διατήρηση της διάδοσης και ενίσχυσης των ερεθισμάτων από τα έξω τριχωτά κύτταρα. Η ακουστική νευροπάθεια μπορεί να προκληθεί από: βλάβη στα έσω τριχωτά κύτταρα, βλάβη στην συναπτική περιοχή μεταξύ έσω τριχωτών κυττάρων και δενδρίτων των νευρώνων του ελικοειδούς γαγγλίου και από βλάβη στους νευρώνες του ελικοειδούς γαγγλίου.

Σκοπός

Ο στόχος αυτής της βιβλιογραφικής ανασκόπησης είναι η επισήμανση και αξιολόγηση όλων των διαθέσιμων δημοσιευμένων δεδομένων για την ακουστική νευροπάθεια, ώστε να δοθεί μια ενημέρωση για τους έως τώρα γνωστούς παθοφυσιολογικούς μηχανισμούς αυτής της ασθένειας: στα αισθητήρια κύτταρα, στις συνάψεις και στους νευρώνες. Θα προσδιοριστούν επίσης, τα αντίστοιχα κλινικά ευρήματα και διαγνωστικά κριτήρια της AN και θα συζητηθούν οι τρέχουσες καθώς και οι μελλοντικές θεραπευτικές στρατηγικές. Επιπλέον, θα αξιολογηθούν τα οφέλη της κοχλιακής εμφύτευσης σε άτομα με AN, προκειμένου να απαντηθεί ένα κλινικό ερώτημα: Ποια είναι η αποτελεσματικότητα της κοχλιακής εμφύτευσης στην ακουστική ικανότητα και στην επικοινωνία, σε ασθενείς με AN;

Μέθοδος

Η αναζήτηση της βιβλιογραφίας πραγματοποιήθηκε με την χρήση της βάσης δεδομένων του PUBMED, EMBASE, ERIC (Education Resources Information Center) και COCHRANE CENTRAL για την ανεύρεση αγγλικών και ελληνικών άρθρων από το 1990 έως τον Ιανουάριο του 2019. Χρησιμοποιήθηκαν όροι όπως "ακουστική νευροπάθεια" και "ακουστικός απο-συγχρονισμός" και ΑΝ σε συνδυασμό με λέξεις- κλειδιά όπως "επιδημιολογία", "αιτιολογία", "παθοφυσιολογία", "διάγνωση", "διαχείριση" και "κοχλιακά εμφυτεύματα". Εν συνεχεία, έγινε διαλογή των άρθρων και συμπεριλήφθηκαν βάση της σχετικότητας τους με τον στόχο της βιβλιογραφικής ανασκόπησης.

Αποτελέσματα

Συγκεντρώθηκαν συνολικά 299 άρθρα που παρέχουν γνώσεις σχετικά με τη διάγνωση, την παθοφυσιολογία, την επιδημιολογία, τους παράγοντες κινδύνου και την αιτιολογία της ακουστικής νευροπάθειας. Συμπεριλήφθηκαν 75 άρθρα που απαντούσαν στο ερώτημα που τέθηκε για τις επιπτώσεις των κοχλιακών εμφυτευμάτων στην ακουστική ικανότητα και την επικοινωνία σε ασθενείς με ΑΝ. Συνολικά 57 άρθρα ανέφεραν σημαντικό πλεονέκτημα στη διαχείριση της ακουστικής νευροπάθειας με κοχλιακά εμφυτεύματα, παρουσιάζοντας βελτιωμένες ακουστικές ικανότητες και ανάπτυξη ομιλίας σε ασθενείς με ΑΝ. Οι υπόλοιπες 17 μελέτες έδειξαν ότι παρόλο που η κοχλιακή εμφύτευση προσφέρει τη δυνατότητα βελτίωσης της ακουστικής ικανότητας και της ανάπτυξης της ομιλίας σε άτομα με ΑΝ, το όφελος εξαρτάται από τη θέση της βλάβης και τις συνοσηρότητες.

Συμπέρασμα

Η ακουστική νευροπάθεια δεν είναι μια σπάνια διαταραχή, κυρίως μεταξύ παιδιών με γνωστή νευροαισθητήρια βαρηκοΐα. Η ακουστική νευροπάθεια χαρακτηρίζεται από απουσία ακουστικών προκλητών δυναμικών εγκεφαλικού στελέχους (ABR) και παρουσία ωτακουστικών εκπομπών (OAE), αλλά ο προσδιορισμός της ακριβής ανατομικής θέσης της διαταραχής, απαιτεί πιο εξειδικευμένες ακουστικές και ηλεκτροφυσιολογικές εξετάσεις σε συνδυασμό με απεικονιστικό έλεγγο και γενετικές δοκιμές. Η έγκαιρη και κατάλληλη αντιμετώπιση είναι πολύ σημαντική, παρόλο που εξακολουθεί να αποτελεί πρόκληση για τους κλινικούς ιατρούς, διότι η τεχνολογία των ακουστικών βαρηκοΐας δεν είναι ακόμη ικανή να αντισταθμίσει τα ελλείμματα συγχρονισμού, αναγκαία για την αποκωδικοποίηση της ομιλίας, των ασθενών αυτών. Η πλειοψηφία των μελετών που συμπεριλήφθηκαν στην βιβλιογραφική ανασκόπηση υποστηρίζουν το συμπέρασμα ότι η κογλιακή εμφύτευση προσφέρει σημαντικό πλεονέκτημα στην ακουστική ικανότητα και στην ανάπτυξη της ομιλίας σε άτομα με ΑΝ. Επιπλέον, ακόμη και ασθενείς με ήπια έως μέτρια ακουστική ικανότητα με φτωχή διάκριση ομιλίας θα πρέπει να είναι υποψήφιοι για κογλιακό εμφύτευμα, καθώς θα επωφεληθούν σημαντικά στην διακριτική ικανότητα μετεγχειρητικά. Ωστόσο, λόγω της ανομοιογένειας αυτής της διαταραχής απαιτείται ιδιαίτερη προσοχή όταν γίνεται η επιλογή των ασθενών για κοχλιακή εμφύτευση έτσι ώστε να επιτευχθεί η βέλτιστη έκβαση.

Λέξεις-κλειδιά: Ακουστική νευροπάθεια, Ακουστικός από-συγχρονισμός, Ακουστικά βαρηκοΐας, Κοχλιακά εμφυτεύματα.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Abbreviations and Terminology	9
List of Tables	12
List of Figures	12
1. Introduction	13
2. Method	18
3. Results	23
3.1. Results for cochlear implantation in auditory neuropathy	29
4. Discussion	35
4.1. Epidemiology	35
4.2. Etiology and Risk Factors	35
4.3. Underlying Genetic Basis of Auditory Neuropathy	35
4.4. Pathophysiology of Auditory Neuropathy	36
4.4.1. Presynaptic mechanisms of auditory neuropathy	36
4.4.2. Postsynaptic mechanisms of auditory neuropathy	37
4.5. Diagnosis	38
4.6. Treatment modalities and outcomes	41
4.6.1. Amplification	41
4.6.2 Frequency Modulation Systems	42
4.6.3. Cochlear Implantation	42
4.6.4. Innovative Treatment Methods for Auditory Neuropathy	54
5. Conclusion	54
6. References	57

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND TERMINOLOGY

ABBREVIATIONS

ENGLISH

GREEK **ERMINOLOGY**

μερικάνικη Ακαδημία Ακοολογίας

κουστική νευροπάθεια

τικών προκλητών δυναμικών γκεφαλικού στελέχους

άσμα διαταραχών της ουστικής νευροπάθειας

στικών δυναμικών σταθερού ερεθίσματος

> ουστική νευροπάθεια, επικρατές γονίδιο

> ουστική νευροπάθεια, επικρατές γονίδιο 2

ρικάνικος όμιλος ακοήςομιλίας- γλώσσας

θετο δυναμικό ενέργειας

εντρική καταχώρηση μενων δοκιμών Cochrane

Κοχλιακό μικροφωνικό

ος Charcot-Marie-Tooth

τρικό νευρικό σύστημα

Αξονική τομογραφία

ογο γονιδίου Diahanous-3

τοακουστικές εκπομπές προϊόντων ακουστικής παραμόρφωσης

	TERMINOLOGY	Т
AAA:	American Academy of Audiology	Aį
AN:	Auditory neuropathy	Ак
ABR:	Auditory brainstem response	Ακουσι ε
ANSD:	Auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder	Φι ακα
ASSR:	Auditory steady-state responses	Ακουσ
AUNA1:	Auditory neuropathy, dominant 1	Ак
AUNA2:	Auditory neuropathy, dominant 2	Ак
ASHA:	American Speech- Language- Hearing Association	Αμερ
CAP:	Compound action potential	Σύν
CENTRAL:	Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials	Κ ελεγχό
CM:	Cochlear microphonic potentials	K
CMT:	Charcot–Marie–Tooth disease	Νόσο
CNS	Central nervous system	Κεν
CT:	Computed tomography	F
DIAPH3:	Diaphanous-3	Ομόλα
DPOAE:	Distortion products otoacoustic emmissions	Ω^{\prime}_{π}

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND TERMINOLOGY (CONTINUED)

ABBREVIATIONS

ENGLISH TERMINOLOGY

GREEK TERMINOLOGY

ECAP:	Electric compound action potential Ηλεκτρικό σύνθετο δυ ενέργειας	
ECochG:	Electrocochleography	Ηλεκτροκοχλιογραφία
EABR	Electric auditory brainstem responses	Ηλεκτρικών ακουστικών προκλητών δυναμικών εγκεφαλικού στελέχους
ERIC:	Education Resources Information Center	Κέντρο πληροφόρησης για εκπαιδευτικά μέσα
FM:	Frequency modulated	Διαμόρφωση συχνότητας
GJB2:	Gap junction protein beta 2	Πρωτεΐνη χασματοσύνδεσμου βήτα 2
HA:	Hearing aids	Ακουστικά βαρηκοΐας
IHCs:	Inner hair cells	Έσω τριχωτά κύτταρα
IT-MAIS	Infant-Toddler Meaningful Auditory Integration Scale	Ουσιαστική κλίμακα ακουστικής ολοκλήρωσης νηπίων-παιδιών
MRI:	Magnetic resonance imaging	Μαγνητική τομογραφία
MAIS	Meaningful Auditory Integration Scale	Ουσιαστική κλίμακα ακουστικής ολοκλήρωσης
NSRAN:	Non-syndromic recessive auditory neuropathy	Μη-συνδρομική υπολειπόμενου αυτοσωματικού χαρακτήρα ακουστική νευροπάθεια
NSE:	Neuron-specific enolase	Ειδική νευρωνική ενολάση
OAE:	Otoacoustic emissions	Ωτοακουστικές εκπομπές
OHCs:	Outer hair cells	Έξω τριχωτά κύτταρα

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND TERMINOLOGY (CONTINUED)

ABBREVIATIONS	ENGLISH TERMINOLOGY	GREEK TERMINOLOGY
OPA1:	Optic atrophy 1	Γονίδιο ατροφίας οπτικού νεύρου 1
OTOF:	Otoferlin	Γονίδιου της πρωτεΐνης Otoferlin
PJVK:	Pejvakin	Γονίδιου της πρωτεΐνης Pejvakin
SADL:	Satisfaction with Amplification in Daily Life	Ικανοποίηση με την ακουστική ενίσχυση στην καθημερινή ζωή
SGNs:	Spiral ganglion neurons	Νευρώνες του ελικοειδούς γαγγλίου
SNHL:	Sensorineural hearing loss	Νευροαισθητήρια βαρηκοΐα
SP:	Summating potential	Αθροιστικό δυναμικό
TEOAEs:	Transient evoked otoacoustic emissions	Παροδικές προκλητές ωτοακουστικές εκπομπές

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Classification of research articles	25
Table 2: CI outcomes in AN individuals: Substantial benefit	31
Table 3: CI outcomes in AN individuals: Etiology for limited benefit	33
Table 4: Substantial benefit from CI in AN patients	43

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Auditory brainstem response (ABR)	15
Figure 2: Audiological and electrophysiological results for an individual with	16
unilateral auditory neuropathy	
Figure 3: Auditory neuropathy. Literature search selection and identification	24
process for inclusion in the systematic literature review.	
Figure 4: Cochlear implantation in patients with auditory neuropathy. Search	30
selection and strategy for inclusion in the systematic literature review.	

1. Introduction

Auditory neuropathy (AN) also known as Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder (ANSD) is a recently described form of hearing impairment where neural dys-synchrony and deterioration of temporal processing is the predominant characteristic (1, 2, 3). This hearing disorder is characterized by impaired neural encoding of sound stimuli despite the preservation of sensory transduction and amplification by outer hair cells and the intact frequency selectivity (4).

Clinical investigators began to describe groups of patients with normal or slightly elevated audiogram pure tone thresholds and absent or severely abnormal auditory brainstem responses (ABRs) as early as the 1970's, but with the advent of the otoacoustic emissions (OAEs) in the 1980's, these patients were found to have normal cochlear function. This unique division of hearing dysfunctions known as ANs was identified as clinically significant in 1996 by Starr and his colleagues (4). Since then, researchers have sought to elucidate the pathophysiology, the risk factors, the diagnostic tests and the clinical outcomes of this disorder. Over time the literature illustrated that AN was manifest in different ways and degrees, and as the result of numerous etiologies, thus leading to the adoption of the term ANSD. Further advances in the AN field, though, made this term redundant.

Patients with this disorder report that they "can hear but cannot understand", thus auditory neuropathy is a term that was initially coined for a specific type of hearing disorder affecting speech comprehension beyond alterations in audibility (5). Understanding of speech is almost always severely degraded especially when these signals are embedded in background noise (6). A high degree of precision is required in order to discern and accurately represent complex and continually varying acoustic signals, such as speech. Hence, even subtle alterations, affecting any point in the peripheral or central auditory mechanisms, can have a remarkable impact on perception (6). Patients with AN are able to respond to sounds appropriately, but their ability to decode speech and language is hindered as this hearing impairment affects processing of acoustic temporal cues, essential for: (a) speech discrimination; (b) sound localization; and (c) distinguishing signals from background noise (1, 7, 8). The ability to combine signals from both ears to maximize perception may also be affected due to the temporal-processing deficit that these patients present with (6).

The pathophysiology of the disease is abstruse and equivocal. Its ambiguity lies in that AN is not a single disease but a constellation of pathologies affecting the auditory pathway. It is well established that the sequence of sound processing along the auditory system commences with the outer hair cells (OHCs) which amplify and sharpen the resonance of cochlear

13

structures in response to sound pressure waves and the next stage is transduction by inner hair cells (IHCs). Speech intelligibility and binaural performance rely greatly on the afferent ribbon synapses at the base of the IHCs which trigger sustained, temporally accurate activity in auditory neurons (9). A wide range of disease mechanisms have recently been elucidated, due to human genetic studies and analysis of animal models of auditory neuropathy, which include loss of IHCs or IHC synapses, impaired synaptic transmission to spiral ganglion neurons (SGNs), and compromised propagation of auditory information along the auditory nerve. Thus, it is lucid that in AN, the hearing impairment is initiated downstream from mechanoelectrical transduction and cochlear amplification of OHCs. The desynchrony of neural discharges, which successively leads to severe impairment in the individuals' temporal processing abilities, without compromising the amplification function of the inner ear is the prevalent pathophysiological mechanism of AN.

There are multiple etiologies of AN phenotype. However, the etiologic factors have not been identified in approximately 50% of patients (10). An elegant description, by Rance and colleagues, demonstrates the various locations of lesions that can cause AN and outlines a few etiologies at each lesion site (11). The disease mechanisms causing AN entail selective loss of IHCs with preserved OHC function; otoferlin (OTOF) gene mutations, encoding the protein otoferlin, have been associated with deficits in neurotransmitters; dendritic anomalies due to auditory trauma or genetic mutations (optic atrophy 1, OPA1); damage to auditory ganglion cells secondary to hyperbilirubinemia; congenital aplasia or hypoplasia of auditory nerve; myelin disorders such as Charcot-Marie tooth disease (4, 12); and lesions causing irregularities to the auditory nerve such as a cerebello-pontine angle lesion or multiple sclerosis (11). Other neurological disorders associated with auditory neuropathy are Leber's Hereditary Optic Neuropathy and Deafness-Dystonia-Optic Neuronopathy syndrome (Mohr-Tranebjaerg syndrome) (4) and Refsum's Disease (13) among others. Furthermore, mitochondrial disorders such as Friedreich's ataxia (14, 15, 16), autoimmune disorders (e.g., Guillain-Barre' syndrome) and nutritional disorders (17) as well as degenerative changes accompanying aging (18) may give rise to a progressive form of AN. A dys-synchrony in the central auditory processing pathway is thus provoked by these lesions, leading to a number of complications.

The risk factors for the development of AN include both congenital and perinatal insults. The literature has frequently portrayed that neonatal insults such as prematurity, hyperbilirubinemia, hypoxia, central nervous system (CNS) immaturity, low-birth weight and mechanical ventilation are strongly associated with the presentation of AN (19, 20, 21, 22). Infections such as bacterial meningitis, encephalitis and post-viral infections such as measles

and mumps, and the administration of ototoxic drugs such as antibiotics and diuretics, in the neonatal intensive care units, have also been implicated as significant risk factors for the development of AN (19, 23, 24, 25, 26).

Auditory neuropathy is a disorder in which behavioral threshold measures do not match with other measures of auditory function such as ABR data (Figure 1) and speech understanding scores (27).



Figure 1. Auditory brainstem response (ABR) traces showing the cochlear microphonic with no neural response recorded from a 1-month-old infant (Panel a): Note that the waveforms recorded using rarefaction (R) and condensation (C) clicks (37.7 clicks/s) appear to be mirror images (two upper traces). A fast click rate of 83.3 clicks/s results in no adaptation (third trace). The disappearance of the response in the clamped tube condition, bottom trace, confirms the response is not stimulus artifact. In contrast, the ABR traces in Panel b show an ABR recorded from a 2-month-old infant with normal hearing. Waves I, III, and V are present, and there is no significant latency shifts between the rarefaction and condensation waveforms. (Adapted from Auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: a review. 2014. LW Norrix, DS Velenovsky. J Speech Lang Hear Res. 57(4):1564-76. Copyright © 2014 American Speech-Language-Hearing Association.)

Due to the tonotopic layout of the cochlea, frequency cues to sound are encoded in the cochlea and so is the intensity of sound. Therefore, patients with AN are frequently able to show notably good pure tone audiograms (PTAs) relative to their speech perception (Figure 2). These patients have severely impacted speech comprehension because the temporal qualities of sound are encoded and processed in the neurons of the auditory pathway, and it is the temporal qualities that are essential for physiological speech comprehension (28).



Figure 2. Audiological and electrophysiological results for an individual with unilateral auditory neuropathy. Panels on the left were obtained for stimuli presented to left (normal) ear. Panels on the right represent results for right (auditory neuropathy) ear. The 'audiogram' is the pattern of behavioural sound detection thresholds displayed as a function of stimulus frequency. The shaded area represents the normal sensitivity range. Electrocochleography and ABR testing used acoustic clicks at maximum presentation levels [90 dBnHL (decibels normal hearing level)]. For the right side the ABR is absent but the cochlear microphonic (asterisks) is present. The microphonic shows a phase reversal with change in stimulus polarity (compression/rarefaction) confirming that the potential is of pre-neural origin. The sinusoidal waveform disappears when the stimulus tube is clamped indicating that the potential is not stimulus artefact. (Adapted from Pathophysiological mechanisms and functional hearing consequences of auditory neuropathy. G Rance, A Starr. 2015. Brain.138(Pt 11):3141-58.Copyright 2015 by Oxford University Press on behalf of the Guarantors of Brain.)

AN is a hearing disorder characterized by the presence of OAE and cochlear microphonic potentials (CM) due to the integrity of OHC activity (Figure 2), absent or grossly abnormal brainstem evoked auditory potential, auditory thresholds incompatible with speech thresholds and altered acoustic reflexes (29). Starr and colleagues, having studied temporal bones from subjects dying with AN concluded that the abnormalities of both ABRs and hearing could be attributed to the loss of auditory nerve fibers and altered neural transmission (30).

Auditory neuropathy is a relatively new clinical entity, thus there is still little evidence on its incidence, prevalence and natural history (31). AN seems to be a common cause of hearing impairment, as approximately 1 in 7000 neonates is identified as having abnormal auditory nerve function through 'new-born hearing screening' evaluation (32). The prevalence of AN ranges between 0.23 and 2% in infants "at risk" for hearing impairment and it reaches up to 10% in children with permanent hearing loss, moreover, there is a subset of patients that have a unilateral form of the disorder accounting for approximately 7% of children with AN (33). The literature has also demonstrated progressive forms of AN which may occur with a wide range of conditions, as mentioned previously (10, 11, 14, 24). AN has been categorized into two distinct groups regarding the age of symptom onset; an early-onset form, typically associated with a neonatal presentation, and a delayed-onset form, which is commonly accompanied by generalized neuropathy. It is of interest to note that only 25% of AN cases are older than 10 years when the symptoms of the disease primarily occur (24) whereas 80% of patients with symptom onset commencing after the age of 15 present with generalized neuropathic disorders (34). Due to the different cochlear and auditory nerve pathologies and the many pathophysiological mechanisms that have been identified, it is coherent that there is a vast inter and intra-subject variability which defines its patient population, thus making it difficult to discern accurate prevalence.

Technologies available to improve audibility and clarity for individuals with AN are hearing aids (HAs), cochlear implants, and frequency modulated (FM) systems. Typically the initial remediation of choice for mild to severe degrees of hearing loss and generally the only management option for children under the age of 1 year regardless of degree of hearing loss are HAs and/or FM systems. The development of auditory and communication skills in children with prelingual onset of AN is the principle treatment goal. However, management and rehabilitation is an important practical challenge due to this disorder's heterogeneity. Furthermore, predictions as to the outcome of each therapeutic intervention are guarded as a significant number of the pediatric population with AN may have conditions or comorbidities that negatively impact outcomes irrespective of the treatment strategy (35); therefore, the management of patients with this disorder should be individualized and

17

modified accordingly, taking into account each patient's needs and progress (36). Conventional amplification may be the initial intervention that can be attempted in order to maximize audibility and clarity, but providing HAs to patients (particularly children) with AN is currently a controversial issue. Firstly, there is skepticism regarding the safety of HA use for AN, due to the damage to cochleae with OHC function and secondly, providing conventional amplification to AN subjects with inherent auditory pathway limitations will increase the likelihood that it will simply produce a louder but equally distorted signal to these individuals (3, 15, 34, 36, 37). HAs can cause significant noise exposure resulting in both temporary and permanent hearing threshold shifts. Thus, the possibility of acoustic trauma through over-amplification is potentially greater in ears with "normal" endocochlear function, especially since suppression and acoustic reflex mechanisms that are thought to protect the cochlea from excessively loud sounds may be inactive in AN subjects (15, 38). Currently, positive evidence of improvement of aural acuity with conventional HAs remains anecdotal, as the majority of reports describe poor acceptance of amplification due to insufficient benefit or interference with communication. On the other hand, the use of FM systems in AN subjects' environment settings might offer a low-risk option, as there are minimal risks to surviving OHCs due to minimal amplification levels, yet benefit of improving the signal- to noise ratio may be gained (39). Hence, it seems that AN individuals may benefit from FM systems, either because lucid speech may be enhanced, or for utilization during the evaluation period before CI.

The recognition of greater numbers of AN cases with severe to profound hearing loss, the frequently poor speech perception performance of affected subjects, and limited success with conventional amplification has led many clinicians and patients to consider the cochlear implant management option, despite the specific risks the procedure may entail. Indeed, the ultimate option towards rehabilitation of the compromised processing of auditory information in AN children is CI. The decision to implant AN individuals is strongly supported by a continuously growing body of evidence, suggesting significant advantages in improvement of auditory and language skills in these patients (35, 40). The ability of the CI to partially supersede the functions of the auditory sensory cells and directly stimulate the auditory nerve, benefiting neural synchrony and thus contributing to the development of hearing skills is the basis of this management option for these individuals. Theoretically, the electric signals provided by the CI may improve the auditory pathway's synchronization (41), consequently mitigating temporal processing in AN subjects. The first criterion that needs to be met, for the selection of candidates for cochlear implantation, is the preservation of a normal sized auditory nerve, as shown by MRI. Secondly, children older than one year of age are

18

implanted as there is a possibility of spontaneous recovery due to the preservation of OHCs, thus making CI a controversial issue in younger children (20, 42). Currently, the literature has demonstrated that most subjects with CIs show normal ABRs to electric stimulation and significant improvement in hearing and speech development, thus CI provide a viable means of improving functional hearing in most individuals with AN (43, 44).

In light of the heterogeneous nature of AN, the high degree of interest among audiologists (American Speech- Language-Hearing Association [ASHA], 2008) and the many unresolved controversies surrounding its pathophysiology and management recommendations, a systematic review was undertaken to examine the current state of the published evidence. This literature review imparts an update on recently elucidated knowledge on AN and aims to convey recently illustrated pathophysiological mechanisms such as sensory, synaptic and neural mechanisms of AN and their corresponding clinical findings. Furthermore, due to the lack of diagnostic tests that accurately diagnose the site of dysfunction and the boundless array of functional outcomes, AN can be difficult to diagnose. Thus, another purpose of this review is to synthesize and analyze existing evidence pertaining to the diagnostic criteria and the battery of tests used to diagnose AN. Moreover, this literature review identifies treatment options, discusses current rehabilitation strategies as well as future therapies and explores the benefits of CIs in enhancing auditory signal processing for the affected individuals. The findings in this review will also highlight areas where further research is needed. Finally, one clinical question will be addressed concerning CI: For children with the diagnosis of an auditory neuropathy, what is the effect of cochlear implantation on hearing and communication skills?

2. Method

A qualitative systematic review of Greek and English literature was carried out to assess the current knowledge on AN, its pathophysiological mechanisms, its clinical presentation and its management recommendations. The review of the literature was conducted using the PUBMED, EMBASE, ERIC (Education Resources Information Center) and COCHRANE CENTRAL databases to encompass English and Greek articles from January 1990 to January 2019. Randomized control trials (RCTs) of AN were also sought by applying a search strategy to the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL). Terms pertaining to "auditory neuropathy", "auditory, neuropathy spectrum disorder", "auditory dyssynchrony", and AN linked with key words such as "epidemiology", "etiology", "pathophysiology", "diagnosis", "therapy", "management" and "cochlear implants" were used. The search strategy furthermore, combined AN with CI and "speech perception" and

"speech intelligibility". The above-mentioned key words provided a large number of scientific studies, which were then screened and analyzed for relevance. The search results were last updated on the 16th of January 2019. Furthermore, related articles were also found after a thorough hand search of all the references of the previously included articles. Following this search strategy titles and abstracts were read and reviewed and, when appropriate, included for further study.

The selection of articles followed screening for eligibility for inclusion, based on issues related to the objective of this review of the literature. Full text articles were retrieved for screening where any uncertainty existed about a study's eligibility. The eligibility criteria for inclusion of the research studies in this review were as follows: all English and Greek studies published in journals from 1990 to January 2019 were included and so were studies of both adults and children of all the world's populations. Due to the plethora of knowledge concerning the pathophysiological mechanisms of AN which have been gleaned from studies based on animal models, it was imperative that animal studies also be included in this literature review. It is important to note that studies were not excluded based on type or study design, as the inclusion of all studies provides a more comprehensive look at the current body of evidence. Therefore, all epidemiological, experimental, clinical studies, case series and literature reviews were added. Moreover, no restrictions were made on outcome measures used. As for the exclusion criteria: articles that were not published in the English or Greek language were not included in the aforementioned period, neither were Letters to the editor, Case reports and pharmacological models. It is of significance to note that although case reports were not included in the literature review, case series, describing a set of patients, were. Furthermore, unpublished studies were excluded in this review. All the publications that were not excluded in the first stage were assessed and reviewed in full for the selection and inclusion in this literature review.

The relevant studies were analyzed to assess and present the current knowledge on the clinical and pathophysiological features of AN that distinguish site/s of dysfunction along the auditory pathway. This review addresses the diagnostic criteria that ascertain the sites of dysfunction, which include: (1) presynaptic disorders which have an effect on IHCs and ribbon synapses; (2) postsynaptic disorders which have an impact on unmyelinated auditory nerve dendrites; (3) postsynaptic disorders influencing auditory ganglion cells and their myelinated axons and dendrites; and (4) central neural pathway disorders affecting the auditory brainstem. Animal research and genetic testing, which is rapidly evolving worldwide, has profoundly advanced our understanding of the disease mechanisms of AN, particularly those affecting sound encoding at the hair cell ribbon synapses. The relevant

20

studies regarding the genetic association to AN were identified and analyzed in order to elucidate their connection to the pathophysiology of the disease. Furthermore, the genes and their mutations associated with isolated AN are presented, as well as the gene mutations causal in syndromic AN.

Data from the relevant research studies was reviewed in order to portray the knowledge on the plethora of risk factors and etiologies which are associated with this heterogeneous form of hearing loss. The studies included describe and identify the congenital etiologies culpable for AN, which severely affects the development of language, an ability that is strictly related to a period of sensitivity that declines with age. The literature was analyzed in order to demonstrate that cortical plasticity and efficient auditory input is required for the development of language skills, thus in children with congenital AN these skills are greatly hindered. The applicable data that was included presented all the genetic and congenital etiologies of AN and their clinical presentations. These included syndromic, nonsyndromic, and mitochondrial genetic factors as well as cochlear nerve deficiency occurring as a result of failure of the nerve to develop either partially (hypoplasia) or completely (aplasia or agenesis). In addition to the aforementioned, the studies analyzed also present other hereditary conditions that may be associated with AN; these include Charcot-Marie-Tooth and Friedreich's ataxia. Both of these hereditary conditions involve progressive neurological degeneration and generally are not diagnosed until after the neonatal period. The studies presented also display the etiologies and risk factors of the acquired forms of AN, when the onset of the disorder is delayed until childhood or adult life and leads to severe impairment of speech perception and progressive deterioration, due to the abnormalities of auditory input. The acquired etiologies accountable for AN detected in the literature, encompass a vast variety of risk factors which included prematurity, neonatal hyperbilirubinaemia, neonatal anoxia, neonatal mechanical ventilation, hypoxia, low birth weight, extreme prematurity, ototoxic drug exposure, autoimmune disorders (e.g., Guillain-Barre' syndrome), infections such as meningitis, neoplasms (e.g., acoustic neuroma), nutritional disorders, and degenerative changes accompanying aging.

Relevant studies reviewed, display the diagnostic tools implemented in AN patients and describe the different combinations of test results that may arise in these individuals and how they may be classified according to the site of lesion. The diagnostic workup described and analyzed includes OAEs, CM, acoustic reflexes, ABR, behavioral PTA, speech audiometry and summating potentials measured via a transtympanic membrane electrode.

Eligible research studies were assessed to evaluate the clinical expression of AN in both child and adult populations. The data collected discloses the difficulties in determining the prevalence of AN in adult populations as the physiologic assessments used to discern the condition (ABR/CM/OAE) are not routinely undertaken unless there are specific clinical indicators for retrocochlear abnormality. On the other hand, the studies presented revealed that in the pediatric populations AN is a relatively high-incidence disorder, particularly amongst babies in the neonatal intensive care unit as is distinguished by the electrophysiologic examination and universal neonatal screening. The research was analyzed in order to reveal that this hearing disorder is indeed relatively specific for auditory percepts dependent on temporal cues which include, speech comprehension, gap detection, masking level differences, and low-frequency difference levels, whereas percepts dependent on intensity cues are normal. Furthermore, the literature examined disclosed that the likely factors contributing to the temporal processing defects in AN are loss of fibers (deafferentation) and/or altered synchrony of nerve impulses in the remaining fibers due to demyelination and incomplete remyelination. Moreover, the studies included also presented exceptions to the criteria for defining AN.

Data and principles were reviewed in order to identify treatment options useful in improving auditory signal processing for the affected patients and explore their benefits as a function of site of lesion. Treatment modalities which include FM systems, HAs, and CI are presented in order to demonstrate the auditory outcomes of each method and to convey the most successful management techniques which improve hearing and speech outcomes in these cases. Moreover, eligible research studies were assessed to evaluate the auditory outcomes of CI in children with AN. Cochlear implantation, as a treatment modality in AN individuals, has shown to achieve satisfactory speech perception and development probably because the electric stimulation through the CI is adequate to overcome the existing dyssynchrony. The data presented evaluates the success rate in achieving satisfactory understanding of speech and improved language development after CI in children diagnosed with AN. Furthermore, the studies displayed asses the likelihood of success in auditory outcomes in implant recipients, according to the site of the lesion causing AN. Moreover, the research studies assessed present the necessary diagnostic workup in order to ascertain the site of lesion and discern the poor and good implant candidates. The literature reviewed also identifies and explores the etiologies, of poor auditory outcomes and speech perception after CI in children with AN. These etiologies include lack of neural synchronization and/or concurrent medical and cognitive comorbidities in these children diagnosed with AN.

Quantitative analysis of the data was not performed due to the diversity of the study designs and the heterogeneity of the data. The checklist PRISMA 2009 was implemented for this systematic review.

3. Results

Application of the initial search strategy to the databases PUBMED, EMBASE and ERIC using the terms pertaining to "auditory neuropathy", "auditory, neuropathy spectrum disorder", "auditory dyssynchrony", and AN linked with key words such as "epidemiology", "etiology", "pathophysiology", "diagnosis", "therapy", "management" and "cochlear implants", provided a total of 748 articles, for the allocated time period from January 1990 to January 2019. The final search was conducted on the 16th January 2019. Figure 3 shows the flow chart of the literature research selection. A thorough search of the COCHRANE CENTRAL database was also conducted in order to discover randomized control trials (RCTs) on auditory neuropathy for the abovementioned time frame. This investigation detected only 5 relevant RCTs encompassing auditory neuropathy in general and of the five only 2 were applicable RCTs addressing AN and cochlear implantation. A total of 732 studies were gleaned from the Pubmed database, 9 articles from Embase, 2 studies from ERIC and 5 articles were derived from Cochrane library. After a thorough inspection of the titles of the abovementioned articles, 16 studies were found to be repeated references in more than one database and thus were excluded. A further exclusion of 100 articles was conducted due to the language exclusion criteria, as these studies were not in the English or Greek language. Case reports and case studies were not included in this systematic review of the literature, therefore, 106 studies were excluded following assessment of the study type. Similarly the search identified 8 letters to the editor which were also excluded from this literature review. Consequently, 518 studies remained to be assessed for subject matter relevance by their titles and abstracts. A thorough evaluation of the study summaries and titles led to an exclusion of 222 citations as they were deemed irrelevant to the topic analyzed in this literature review. A further 3 studies were included after appraisal of the included study references. Thus, a total of 299 studies that illustrate their insight on the diagnosis, pathophysiology, epidemiology, the risk factors and the etiology of AN were finally included in this literature review. The articles were examined and critically appraised in their entirety for their relevance to the subject tackled in this review of the literature and were evaluated in order to be further classified. Quantitative analysis of the data was not performed due to the diversity of the studies in terms of study design, outcome measures, quality and the heterogeneity of the data illustrated in each citation.



Figure 3. Auditory neuropathy. Literature search selection and identification process for inclusion in the systematic literature review.

The above-mentioned research articles were thoroughly assessed and evaluated to glean the relevant information regarding the prevalence of auditory neuropathy in the adult and pediatric population (Table 1). Until recently, AN was considered to be a very rare disease, however, current evidence demonstrates that this disorder is much more frequent than initially

anticipated. 14 of the articles, included in this review, assessed the prevalence of different adult and pediatric populations in order to discern the distribution and determinants of AN.

Epidemiology	 Penido & Isaac (31) Bielecki et al (38) Foerst et al. (45) Mittal et al. (46) Maris et al. (47) Tang et al. (48) Duman et al. (156) 	 Lotfi et al. (157) Boudewyns et al. (158) Rosenhall et al. (159) Kumar et al. (160) Vignesh et al. (161) Sanyelbhaa et al. (162) Kirkim et al. (163)
Etiology and Risk Factors	 Sivera et al. (12) Attias et al. (17) Attias et al. (20) Buchman et al. (23) Starr et al (24) Beutner et al. (25) Coenraad et al. (26) Psarommatis et al. (42) Rajput et al. (49) Shapiro & Nakamura (50) Saluja et al. (52) Akman et al. (53) Liu et al. (54) Kim et al. (55) Xoinis et al. (56) Rance et al. (57) Acar et al. (58) Sawada et al. (69) 	 Ye et al. (73) Olds & Oghalai (74) Starr et al. (146) Rance et al. (164) Shapiro & Popelka (165) Menezes et al. (166) Can et al. (167) Dowley et al. (168) Amin et al. (169) Huang et al (170) Amin et al. (171) Martínez-Cruz et al. (172) May et al. (173) de Paula-Vernetta et al. (174) Rance et al. (176) Olds & Oghalai (177)
Genetics basis of auditory neuropathy	 Santarelli (10) Starr et al. (30) Del Castillo et al. (59) Rodri 'guez-Ballesteros et al. (60) Varga et al. (61) Wang et al (62) Kim et al. (63) Manchaiah et al. (65) Varga et al (66) Lang-Roth et al. (67) Morlet et al (178) Rodríguez-Ballesteros et al. (179) Runge et al. (180) Matsunaga et al. (181) Santarelli et al. (182) Han et al. (183) Santarelli et al. (184) Wang et al. (185) Liberman et al. (186) 	 20. Tang et al. (187) 21. Yildirim-Baylan et al (188) 22. Bae et al. (189 23. Carvalho et al. (191) 24. Gilels et al. (192) 25. Bong et al. (193) 26. Zong et al. (194) 27. Delmaghani et al. (195) 28. Chiu et al. (196) 29. Romanos et al. (197) 30. Grati et al (198) 31. Chang et al. (199) 32. de Carvalho et al (200) 33. Wang et al. (201) 34. Chen et al. (202) 35. Tranebjærg et al. (203) 36. Wang et al. (204) 37. Schoen et al. (205) 38. Silva et al. (206)

Table 1. Classification of Research Articles

Table 1. Classification of Research Articles (continued)

11	ıa	n	n	n	c	L	c
~	u	м		v	9		J

1. Zeng et al. (2) 2. Starr (4) 3. Rance et al. (6) 4. Rance et al. (7) 5. Zeng et al. (8) 6. Doyle et al. (15) 7. Rance et al. (19) 8. Berg et al (21) 9. Madden et al. (22) 10. Buchman et al. (23) 11. Soares et al. (29) 12. Rance (34) 13. Vlastarakos et al. (36) 14. Mittal et al. (46) 15. Maris et al. (47) 16. Nickisch et al. (51) 17. Akman er al. (53) 18. Kumar & Jayaram (71) 19. Attias et al. (76) 20. Berlin et al. (78) 21. Deltenre et al. (79) 22. Starr et al. (80) 23. Abdala et al. (81) 24. Santarelli R, Arslan (82)25. Stuermer et al. (83) 26. Gibson & Sanli (85) 27. Ranve et al. (86) 28. Alvarenga et al. (87) 29. Ji & Yang (88) 30. Hood (89) 31. Caldas et al. (90) 32. Rance et al. (93) 33. Shivashankar et al. (94) 34. Sinha et al. (96) 35. Sujeet et al. (97) 36. Roche et al. (101)

60. Sharma & Cardon (224) 61. Apeksha & Kumar (225) 62. Shetty & Kooknoor (226)63. Gardner-Berry (227) 64. Franck et al. (228) 65. Narne et al. (229) 66. Narne & Vanaja (230) 67. McMahon et al. (231)

68. He et al. (232) 69. Wang et al. (233) 70. Riggs et al. (234)

38. Berlin (105)

39. He et al. (108)

40. Sharma et al. (111)

41. Hayes et al. (115)

42. Shallop et al. (130)

43. Jeong et al. (155)

44. Emara et al. (207)

45. Berlin et al. (209)

46. Jafari et al. (210)

47. Muluk et al (211)

49. Mo et al. (213)

51. Takata et al (215)

53. Berlin et al. (217)

55. Sahu et al. (219)

56. Sinha et al (220)

58. Wang et al. (222)

59. James et al. (223)

57. Shi et al. (221)

52. Ngo et al. (216)

48. Chandan et al (212)

50. Dimitrijevic et al. (214)

54. Michalewski et al. (218)

- 71. Sinha et al. (235) 72. Wynne et al. (236) 73. Oda et al. (237)

- 74. Wang et al. (238)
- 75. Michalewski et al. (239)
- 76. Santarelli et al. (240)
- 77. He et al. (241)
- 78. Hood et al. (242) 79. Sanyelbhaa Talaat
- et al. (243)
- 80. Cardon et al. (244) 81. Prabhu & Chandan
- (245)82. Yalçinkaya et al. (246)
- 83. Psarommatis et al. (247)
- 84. Emami & Farahani (248)
- 85. Lee et al. (249)
- 86. Prabhu et al. (250)
- 87. Kumar & Jayaram (251)
- 88. Apeksha & Kumar (252)
- 89. Narne (253)
- 90. Vinay & Moore (254)
- 91. James et al. (255)
- 92. Wang et al. (256)
- 93. Lu et al. (257)
- 94. Narne et al. (258)
- **95.** Shaheen et al. (259)
- 96. Zhang et al. (260)
- 97. Sazgar et al. (261)
- 98. Sheykholeslami et

Pathophysiology

- Moser & Starr (5) 1.
- 2. Rance & Starr (11)
- 3. Cacace & Pinheiro (14)
- 4. Rance (34)

37. Mohammadi et al (103)

- Starr et al. (68) 5.
- Sawada et al. (69) 6.
- 7. El-Badry & McFadden (70)
- Matsumoto et al. (264) 8.

26

- - Salvi et al. (265) 9.
 - 10. Hong & Kang (266)
 - 11. Rapin & Gravel (267)
 - 12. Lepcha et al. (268)

- al. (262) 99. Gates et al. (263)

- 13. Cowper-Smith et al. (269)
- 14. Wang et al. (270)

Table 1. Classification of Research Articles (continued)

Management

Berlin et al. (3) 1. 2. Rance & Starr (11) 3. Rance et al. (16) 4. Attias & Raveh (20) 5. Madden et al. (22) 6. Buchman et al. (23) Harrison et al. (27) 7. 8 Pham (28) Berlin et al. (33) 9. 10. Teagle et al. (35) 11. Vlastarakos et al. (36) 12. Raveh et al. (37) 13. Madden et al. (39) 14. Zeng & Liu (40) 15. Sininger & Trautwein (41)16. Psarommatis et al. (42) 17. Pelosi et al. (43) 18. Budenz et al. (44) 19. Rodriguez-Ballesteros et al. (60) 20. Santarelli et al (72) 21. Boo (75) 22. Gibson & Sanli (85) 23. Alvarenga et al. (87) 24. Hood (89) 25. Declau et al. (102) 26. Walton et al. (104) 27. Roush et al. (106) 28. Gardner-Berry et al. (107)29. Rance & Barker (109) 30. Cardon & Sharma (110) 31. Hood et al. (112) 32. Nikolopoulos (113) 33. Jeon et al. (114) 34. Hayes et al. (115) 35. Peterson et al. (117) 36. Breneman et al. (118) 37. Jeong et al. (119) 38. Kontorinis et al (120) 39. Humphriss et al. (121) 40. Fernandes et al. (122) 41. Sarankumar et al. (123) 42. Dean et al. (124) 43. Carvalho et al. (126) 44. Shallop (127) 45. Buss et al. (128)

46. Mason et al (129) 47. Runge-Samuelson et al. (131) 48. Fulmer et al. (132) 49. Gibson & Graham (133)50. Bradley et al. (134) 51. Fontenot et al. (135)52. Wu et al. (136) 53. de Carvalho et al (137)54. Ji et al. (138) 55. Nayagam (139) 56. Chen et al. (140) 57. Hang et al. (141) 58. Kim et al (142) 59. Chisholm et al. (144)60. Liu et al. (145) 61. Daneshi et al. (147) 62. Zdanski et al. (148) 63. Ji et al (149) 64. Neary & Lightfoot (150)65. Ching et al. (151) 66. Greisiger et al. (152)67. Jeong et al. (155) 68. Runge et al.(153) 69. Liu (154) 70. Santarelli et al. (184)71. Giraudet & Avan (190)72. Kumar & Jayaram (251)73. Ramirez & Mann (271)74. Nassiri et al. (272) 75. Stuermer et al. (273)76. He et al. (274) 77. Pelosi et al. (275) 78. Fernandes et al.

(276)

(277)

79. de Carvalho et al.

80. Wang et al. (278)

83. Attias et al. (281) 84. Mathai (282) 85. Walker et al. (283) 86. Ji et al. (284) 87. Anderson et al. (285)88. Kim et al. (286) 89. He et al. (287) 90. Shallop et al. (288) 91. Hong et al. (289) 92. Yuvaraj & Mannarukrishnaiah (290)93. Adams et al. (291) 94. Balan & Maruthy (292)95. Prabhu & Barman (293)96. Prabhu & Barman (294)97. Hosoya et al. (295) 98. Kaga et al (296) 99. Nash-Kille & Sharma (297) 100. Gökdoğan et al. (298) 101. Ji et al (299)102. Young et al. (300) Narne & 103. Vanaja (301) 104. Mathai & Appu (302) 105. Narne & Vanaja (303) 106. Lee et al. (304)107. Rance et al. (305)108. Rance & Barker (306) 109. Narne & Vanaja (307)

81. Yuvaraj & Jayaram

(279)

82. Kaga (280)

Table 1. Classification of Research Articles (continued)

Vestibular Involvement

- 1. Sinha et al. (96)
- 2. Sheykholeslami et al (98)
- 3. Prabhu & Jamuar (99)
- 4. Fujikawa & Starr (100)
- 5. Sazgar et al. (261)
- 6. Nash et al. (310)

AN and Depression

1. Prabhu (311)

Of these research articles 35 bestowed insights on the different etiological factors that may play a role in the development of AN and also shed light on the underlying risk factors associated with this disorder. The etiologies of auditory neuropathy are largely unknown and appear to be diverse, thus, these studies contribute to the evaluation of the independent etiologic factors and the relative contribution of each independent risk factor predisposing individuals to AN.

Moreover, to further enlighten our knowledge on the etiological factors associated with AN, 38 of the studies included, analyze the genetic basis of AN in order to identify the causative genes predisposing to this disorder. One of the challenges contributing to the understanding of the molecular bases of the different phenotypes of hearing loss is the identification of genetic alterations responsible for AN. The above-mentioned studies highlight some of the defective genes that have been found to be related to the pathological auditory alterations.

The complex pathophysiological mechanisms of AN have yet to be fully understood and it has still not been elucidated how lesions in the auditory nervous system from the hair cell to the brainstem and cerebrum contribute to the development of AN. The intricate pathophysiological mechanisms of AN using various approaches such as experimental animal models with AN in order to provide insights into the basic molecular mechanisms of the disorder, was analyzed in 14 research articles. In order to establish the diagnostic assessment required to detect and identify the disease in the adult and pediatric population, 99 research papers investigated the clinical and electrophysiological features of AN. These studies portray the typical physiological and behavioral test results and variations encountered in patients with AN and demonstrate additional investigations that may need to be incorporated to the assessment algorithm, in order to identify concomitant peripheral neuropathies or radiologic abnormalities helpful in distinguishing among various conditions. The management of patients diagnosed with AN continues to be a challenge as there is no standard treatment due to its heterogeneity and associated concomitant non-auditory factors. The different treatment modalities and management approaches in individuals diagnosed with AN was evaluated in 109 research studies.

The recent literature has mentioned the term audio-vestibular neuropathy, hence 6 articles included in this literature review, also assessed the prevalence and likelihood of vestibular involvement in individuals diagnosed with auditory neuropathy. Only 1 study was found that evaluated the severity of depression and anxiety in the individuals that were diagnosed with this disorder.

3.1 Results for cochlear implantation in auditory neuropathy

The search strategy to the above-mentioned databases for the benefits of cochlear implants in auditory neuropathy patients yielded a total of 211 articles for the allocated time period from January 1990 to January 2019. Figure 4 shows the flow chart for the search selection and strategy for inclusion of studies. Due to the language barrier, 21 studies were immediately excluded as they were not in the English or Greek language. A further 39 research articles were also not included as they were case reports and case studies, leaving a total number of 151 studies to be scoped for subject matter relevance. Following the assessment of the titles and abstracts of the remaining studies, 71 articles were further excluded as they were irrelevant to the subject matter tackled in this review of the literature. Therefore, a total of 80 articles remained to be reviewed and evaluated for relevance in order to answer the posed question in this literature review. A thorough research and analysis of the references of the above-mentioned articles gave another 14 research studies that were applicable to the subject matter of this review report, and therefore were included. Hence, the total of 94 articles was included for assessment and evaluation. A thorough analysis of the full text of each study led to a further 19 exclusions due to unrelated subject matter or studies that did not apply to the posed question. Hence, a total of 75 studies were finally included in the literature review that were applicable to answer the question; what effect does cochlear implantation have on hearing and communication skills in patients diagnosed with auditory neuropathy? A metaanalysis of study findings was not deemed appropriate due to the heterogeneity of the identified studies in terms of design, outcome measures, and quality.



Figure 4. Cochlear implantation in patients with auditory neuropathy. Search selection and strategy for inclusion in the systematic literature review.

The above-mentioned research articles were thoroughly assessed and evaluated to glean the relevant information regarding their results on how cochlear implants affected the hearing and communication skills in patients with AN. Variable conclusions were drawn from different research protocols on the efficacy of CI in AN patients (Table 2.). Regarding the performance of hearing skills in the AN population that underwent CI, the majority of the research studies reported remarkable hearing improvement and speech perception skills. That is to say that a total of 57 articles that were analyzed in this review of the literature, reported a significant advantage in the management of AN with CI.

Table 2. Ci outcomes in An murriduals, Substantial benefit
--

Substantial benefit from Cl	References
Favorable outcomes regarding speech perception skills and audibility in isolated AN individuals	33, 37, 40, 44, 72, 86, 110, 116 -119, 123, 125-129, 136, 142-147, 152
AN/CI children were benefited in the acquisition of hearing skills: sound detection, discrimination, and recognition of words and sentences, with good communication skills.	22, 33, 40, 44, 72, 75, 115, 117-122, 124-127, 129, 132, 133, 136, 142- 147
Implanted AN children performed at a comparable level to their SNHL peers, regarding speech perception and production.	37, 44, 86, 116-119, 120, 122, 123, 132, 142, 143, 151
Changes in pure-tone thresholds in implanted AN individuals.	119, 128, 129
Implanted AN patients demonstrated synchronous neural response to the stimulation delivered through the implant, thus ameliorating temporal processing.	40, 41, 110, 117, 118, 123, 125, 128,129, 132, 146, 152, 190
Aiding the contralateral non-CI ear increases the benefit of CI.	153
Gene related positive CI outcome results.	60, 72, 136
CI is a valid therapeutic alternative in the management of AN.	28, 36, 41, 43, 106, 121, 122, 128, 141, 154,

AN: auditory neuropathy, CI: cochlear implantation, SNHL: sensorineural hearing loss, HA: hearing aid, CND: cochlear nerve deficiency.

The remaining 17 studies demonstrated that although CI offers the possibility of speech perception and improved hearing skills to subjects with AN, the benefit depends on the site of the lesion and confounding disorders. From the total of articles included, 25 reported the inclusion of AN patients without any co-morbidities and 9 studies examined a heterogeneous group of AN subjects with isolated AN and with co-morbidities.

Results indicating positive efficacy of CI in AN patients, from these 57 research studies, included demonstrated; improvement in speech recognition and communication skills, improved hearing thresholds over speech frequencies, elicitation of electrophysiological responses such as electrically evoked auditory brains stem responses (EABRs), evoked compound action potentials (ECAPs), or electrical stapedius reflexes (ESRs). Many studies actually combined the above-mentioned categories of criteria to evaluate CI efficacy in patients of AN in a more comprehensive manner. Hence, 32 studies demonstrated that patients with AN that underwent CI benefited in the acquisition of improved hearing skills (Table 2.). The auditory skills that were developed by these patients were sound detection, discrimination and recognition of words and improvement in sentence understanding. Furthermore, they acquired improved communication skills. Fourteen of the 57 studies compared speech perception in children with AN versus children with SNHL, who were both CI users, and reported that the AN children's progress was near to matched SNHL patients' progress as far as auditory performance was concerned. Changes in pure-tone thresholds in individuals with AN managed with a CIs was reported in 3 of the 57 articles. Furthermore, 13 of these research studies demonstrated that electric signals from the cochlear implant may improve synchronization within the auditory pathway, thus ameliorating temporal processing in AN patients. Thus, the research data portrayed that the elicitation of electrophysiological responses such as EABRs, ECAPs, or ESRs measured postoperatively indicate the of presence of neural synchrony in implanted AN patients. Moreover, 2 studies noted that robust ECAPs measured after CI in AN individuals correlate with development of open-set speech perception. One research article even went one step further and contemplated that an increased benefit of CI in AN patients may be gained by aiding the contralateral non-cochlear implantation ear. Ten reviews of the literature analyzed the up to date published data and concluded that the major body of evidence suggests that cochlear implantation is a valid therapeutic alternative in the management of auditory neuropathy for the improvement of auditory and communication skills in these patients. However, patient selection should be taken with caution in order to achieve optimum post-implantation results.

The 17 research articles that showed skepticism on the efficacy of CI in AN patients (Table 3.) and demonstrated that some patients showed suboptimal performance on auditory

evaluation and hearing skills, mostly stressed the importance of the identification of the site of lesion in order for the benefits of acuity to be gained.

Table 3. CI outcomes in AN individuals: Etiology for limitedbenefit.

Limited benefit from CI	References
AN/CI children showed no progress in speech recognition, and no subject demonstrated effective social communication.	27, 35, 85,138, 148-150
Significantly better speech perception results in the implanted children with SNHL than the AN subjects.	85, 109
No significant difference in performance levels between AN children who received CI intervention compared to a group who received HA intervention.	109
The presence of another cognitive or developmental disorder significantly adversely affects the CI outcome in AN subjects.	22, 35, 43,44, 75, 120, 124, 132, 151
Anatomical abnormalities of the temporal bone, including CND and enlarged vestibular aqueduct were negatively associated with achievement of speech perception in implanted AN patients.	23, 35, 85, 104, 106, 134, 135, 144, 155,
A reliable prediction of functional outcomes for implanted AN children is presently not possible.	11, 27

AN: auditory neuropathy, CI: cochlear implantation, SNHL: sensorineural hearing loss, HA: hearing aid, CND: cochlear nerve deficiency.

Two of the 17 abovementioned articles noted extremely poor speech perception results in AN patients after CI and further depicted that in comparison with CI users with SNHL, better speech recognition results were gleaned from the SNHL group. The general hypothesis surmised from these studies for the poor efficacy of CI in AN patients is that success of implantation is closely related to the exact site of the lesion responsible for the AN. Limited benefit from CI in AN individuals was reported in 8 research articles as they portrayed that, in spite of fairly good behavioral audiometric thresholds, the patients did not progress appropriately with speech and language development post-implantation. The studies demonstrated that none or limited improvement in speech recognition was achieved and no effective social communication was developed in the AN patients after intervention with CI.

One study compared the efficacy of CI versus HA use in patients with AN and the authors concluded that although CI offers the possibility of speech perception to subjects with AN, some of these individuals can be benefited adequately through the use of HA. Thus, it was duly noted that some individuals with AN do as well with hearing aids as the average implantee. A significant determinant of CI results in AN patients was the presence of another cognitive or developmental disorder which was depicted in 9 of the abovementioned studies. The authors demonstrated that AN individuals with another cognitive or developmental alteration have significant adverse outcomes after CI, and the presence of such a confounding disorder makes it significantly more likely that the subject will not achieve oral modes of communication after implantation and will continue to rely on a non-oral mode of communication. Nevertheless, AN patients with cognitive or developmental disorders do derive some benefit from CI in the form of sound awareness expectations. Nine studies revealed that AN patients presenting with any anatomical abnormalities of the temporal bone, including cochlear nerve deficiency and enlarged vestibular aqueduct, gleaned from magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and high-resolution computed tomography (CT) scans, were negatively associated with achievement of open-set speech perception after CI. Various pathologies from the auditory nerve to the cerebral cortex, places the site-of-lesion proximal to the IHCs in many of these AN patients. Moreover, 2 reviews of the literature state that a reliable prediction of functional outcomes after CI for patients with AN is presently not possible due to the heterogeneity of the disease, the wide range of functional severity in AN subjects and the developmental and behavioral co-morbidities that may be present.

4. Discussion

4.1. Epidemiology

Initially, AN was considered to be a rare form of SNHL with a frequency of occurrence estimated between 0.23% and 1.3% for the "at risk" clinical population (19, 45). However, recent literature demonstrates that AN prevails in 8% of the newly diagnosed cases of hearing loss in children each year (36). Among children with confirmed diagnosis of permanent SNHL the prevalence of AN reaches 7% and 11% (19, 34, 45) and even as high as 14% (46) and 19% (47). A study conducted in Hong Kong demonstrated that the frequency of occurrence of AN in children attending schools for the hearing impaired was estimated to be 2.44% (48). In a study conducted by Psarommatis et al. 2.2% of high risk infants met the AN profile, of which 14.1% corresponded to infants who failed initial ABR (42). These studies demonstrate that AN is a comparatively common disorder in the population of hearing-impaired individuals which may have been significantly underestimated and undertreated in the past.

4.2. Etiology and Risk Factors

The factors predisposing a child to AN are largely unknown and some of the literature has even indicated that AN can occur in the absence of any other apparent medical condition. Many researchers have come to the conclusion that AN comprises a spectrum of risk factors and associated problems affecting the auditory pathway, rather than being a single etiological entity (25).

The most prevalent etiological risk factors of AN in neonates seem to be hyperbilirubinemia, prematurity and anoxia, as has been repeatedly demonstrated in the literature (19, 22, 39, 49, 50, 51, 52). Akman et al. evaluated whether a correlation between increased serum bilirubin and neuron-specific enolase (NSE) assays (a biochemical index of neuronal damage) and AN exists. He reported a high incidence with 7 out of 19 infants with severe jaundice had findings of AN (53). Madden et al. reported that hearing thresholds can spontaneously improve in certain cases of AN neonates with hyperbilirubinemia, thus, this risk factor may be associated with such a transient behavior of the disease (22).

Cochlear nerve deficiency (CND) may be another significant cause of AN, particularly in the unilateral cases, which may be detected by electrophysiological evidence and MRI of the internal auditory canal (54, 55). CND may present a relatively common diagnosis as denoted

by Buchman et al. (23). Another pathogenetic mechanism of AN in high risk infants seems to be central nervous system immaturity associated with low birth weight (42, 56), hence a study conducted in Honolulu, suggested that a greater risk for AN exists in the smallest, most premature infants (56). Finally, another risk factor for the development of AN in adults and children is diabetes mellitus (57, 58). Rance et al. recently investigated adults with type I diabetes mellitus and performed audiological evaluations. This study demonstrated that 6/10 with Type I diabetes mellitus fit the clinical definition for AN (57).

4.3. Underlying Genetic Basis of Auditory Neuropathy

40% of AN is estimated to be due to an underlying genetic basis with autosomal-dominant, autosomal-recessive, mitochondrial and X-linked inheritance all being reported (59). Even though transmission of these genetic disorders is heterogeneous, the predominant form of transmission is the autosomal recessive mode (22, 60, 61). Some research has also discovered X-linked recessive and autosomal dominant patterns of genetic transmission in AN, but these individuals present with a more delayed symptom onset (62, 63).

At present, four causative genes associated with non-syndromic AN have been mapped, although other genetic aetiologies will surely be unmasked in the future. The known genes are: the otoferlin (OTOF) gene, the pejvakin (PJVK) gene, the diaphanous-3 (DIAPH3) gene and AUNX1, linked to chromosome X. Furthermore, mutations of connexin 26 (GJB2) have also been linked with the disease (64, 65).

Genetic research has demonstrated that non-syndromic recessive auditory neuropathy (NSRAN) is linked with mutations in the otoferlin gene, which encodes the protein otoferlin at the molecular level, with the ensuing hearing loss (66). A study conducted by Kim et al. found the first locus responsible for autosomal dominant AN (63). In 2017, a second locus for autosomal-dominant AN (AUNA2) was discovered which is also associated with a slowly progressive postlingual hearing loss without any evidence for additional symptoms in other organ systems (67).

4.4. Pathophysiology of Auditory Neuropathy

The pathophysiological mechanisms and the underlying lesion(s) in AN are the basic points needed to understand and treat this disorder, however, the up to date evidence remains
ambiguous and, in some cases obscure. Most of the data gleaned from clinical and electrophysiological research portray that AN is a spectrum of pathologies and not a single disease entity (25).

4.4.1. Presynaptic mechanisms of auditory neuropathy

The cochlear IHCs are the initial point of contact between the auditory nerve and sensory mechanism. Thus, the loss or disorders of cochlear IHCs would likely compromise and degrade neural synchrony. This in turn leads to changes in temporal patterns of discharge and overall amplitude alterations, which are plausible pathophysiological mechanisms accounting for the electrophysiological and psychoacoustic changes found in AN (68). Experimental animal studies have also demonstrated IHC- susceptibility to mild, long-term hypoxia, which in turn, may be an etiologic factor in the presentation of AN, particularly in high-risk birth infants (69). It is interesting to note however, that El-Badry et al. demonstrated that substantial IHC and auditory nerve fiber losses do not produce dys-synchrony of CAP or ABRs, and are therefore unlikely to be sufficient pathologies underlying AN (70).

Disorders involving the IHC ribbon synapses could involve alterations in the timing and magnitude of transmitter release and/or the availability of receptor sites on the nerve terminals of the afferent nerve (68). Therefore, a major cause of abnormal ABRs in neonates diagnosed with AN is the shortfall of neurotransmitter release from the IHC ribbon synapses (59). Furthermore, an abnormal hair cell/VIIIth nerve functional unit may cause a perisynaptic synchronization disorder which in turn will lead to temporal processing deficits (71).

4.4.2. Postsynaptic mechanisms of auditory neuropathy

Impairment of auditory nerve function can occur at multiple sites along the auditory nerve. An example of terminal dendritic abnormality, due to OPA1 gene mutation, portrays a pattern of objective measures similar to those outlined for ribbon synapse disorders, thus consistent with AN (72). Another possible pathologic mechanism responsible for AN is the inadequate myelination of neural fibers of the auditory nerve. Although these nerve fibers are ultimately capable of conducting action potentials, they are characterized by delayed excitation and impaired capacity to transmit high-frequency neural signals, due to prolonged refractory periods of transmission (11, 36).

Another potential pathologic mechanism accountable for AN is axonal neuropathy of the auditory pathways (34). It is of significance to note that myelin and axonal impairments that

can lead to the development of AN often occur as part of generalized neuropathic disorders, such as Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, which typically presents with a delayed onset of symptoms (11, 36). Moreover, another potential mechanism resulting in AN is the loss of SGNs. SGNs may be affected as both a primary and a secondary effect of gene mutations (68) or may be compromised by hyperbilirubinaemia in neonates, due to their susceptibility to adverse metabolic factors (73, 74).

Irrespective of the etiology of the AN phenotype, it appears that a common pathophysiologic mechanism predominates. More insights into basic molecular mechanisms of AN will be gained with the continual research of experimental animal models which in turn will lead to the development of adequate treatment strategies.

4.5. Diagnosis

The AN profile is defined by the OHC integrity in evoked OAEs and/or CMs in conjunction with the inability to record evoked neural activity at the level of the VIII nerve (CAP) and brainstem (absence of ABR waveforms), altered acoustic reflexes and impaired speech perception, disproportional to the PTA. For timely detection and intervention in children, both OAE and ABR should be carried out on all newborns and infants. Similarly, these same tests should be carried out in children and adults complaining of having difficulty in understanding speech (75). Although, it should be noted that even with the above diagnostic protocol an accurate diagnosis is not always easy.

ASSR (auditory steady-state responses) to multiple simultaneous stimuli is another examination normally carried out on children, which ordinarily correlates well with hearing thresholds in cases of normal hearing and SNHL (76, 77), however, the same does not occur in AN individuals (3, 4). Even though the definition of AN is widely accepted in principle, some exceptions and variations in electrophysiological testing have been depicted in the AN patient population. Firstly, CM's in patients with AN have been observed to be explicitly prominent and to persist several milliseconds after a transient click stimulus (78), findings not detected in normal-hearing individuals. Secondly, up to 30% of ears, which otherwise fulfill criteria for AN, may not present with transient evoked otoacoustic emissions (TEOAEs) (4, 19, 79). Thirdly, AN subjects also exhibit gradations of the degree of hearing impairments, as approximately 20% of these individuals may present with a low-amplitude wave V in their ABRs, which in turn indicates the partially preserved neural synchrony seen in these patients (80). Regarding the absence of OAE's it is significant to note that behavioral audiograms do not seem to deteriorate with the absence or disappearance of OAEs (79), thus no correlation exists between presence or absence of OAEs and behavioral hearing thresholds in AN children (19, 80). Moreover, the disappearance of OAE's during the course of AN has been noted in the literature (79, 80) thus, the presence or absence of OAE's alone is not necessarily linked with the existence of potentially contributing factors (24). A more specific method to differentially diagnose AN is with contralateral suppression using white noise, where the reduction in either DPOAE or TEOAE amplitude is unequivocally absent in these patients (4, 81). Another useful diagnostic tool that may be implemented to diagnose AN subjects is electrocochleography (ECochG). Electrocochleography measures the electrical potentials that are generated in the auditory pathway after sound stimulation. Three response components are recorded in ECochG: 1) CMs, 2) summating potential-SP, 3) CAP. This procedure is reliable in evaluating the auditory peripheral function in the presence of a desynchronized ABR (82). ECochG is the most appropriate method for evaluating cochlear function, and thus assisting CM identification which in turn reflects the integrity of cochlear hair cells, therefore, supports an audiological diagnosis of AN (34, 82, 83). OHC pathology cannot be excluded, especially in the absence of recordable OAEs, thus, OHC integrity should not necessarily be deduced from the presence of the CMs alone (84). A study conducted by Gibson et al. using round window electrocochleography and EABR discovered that the presence of an atypical waveform representing an early positive SP, combined with an absence of EABR responses, depicts children most likely experiencing a true neuropathy (85).

Additionally, other studies used cortical auditory evoked potentials to determine the relationship between these responses and speech perception in AN individuals (86, 87). The P1 component of long latency auditory evoked potentials can serve as a marker of central auditory cortical development and a predictor of the child's potential for speech perception; therefore, it could be utilized as a clinical tool in AN subjects, to guide management interventions and to evaluate the effectiveness of the treatment modality (87).

The least informative measures in the evaluation of AN patients are pure-tone thresholds and speech recognition, especially in quiet. Audiometric findings among AN subjects, reported in the literature, vary from mild and moderate in most cases (19, 88, 89) to profound in others (90). AN patients with mild to moderate audiometric findings, tend to have word recognition scores, especially in the presence of noise, disproportionately poorer than expected by audiometric thresholds (91). The data gleaned from the recent literature demonstrate that speech recognition abilities in individuals diagnosed with AN can range from poor to fairly good recognition ability (7, 33, 92). Both adults and children with AN have severely affected

speech perception in noise skills (93) and data has shown significantly poor performance on the dichotic digit test in children able to manage auditory stimuli in quiet conditions (94).

The classic clinical triad of audiological findings in AN is further supplemented by the absence, or threshold elevation of acoustic reflexes to both ipsilateral and contralateral tones (3, 46, 89). In neonates and infants up to six months of age the presence of reflexes at levels near 90 dB HL should not result in a diagnosis of AN, as they are not deemed reliable at such a young age (33, 95).

Vestibular involvement in AN patients has also been reported in the literature and authors have demonstrated that it is likely that auditory neuropathy involves both the cochlear and vestibular nerve and its innervated structures, thus vestibular evaluation may be appropriate in certain AN cases (96-100).

The up to date literature has strongly suggested that MRI evaluation be incorporated in the assessment algorithm of all children diagnosed with AN, as many of the CNS findings identified in MRI can alter the treatment and prognosis for these children (101, 102). Mostly, the imaging characteristics in AN are typically normal, yet Roche et al. reported that up to 18% of their child population diagnosed with AN, showed evidence of cochlear nerve disorders in MRI examination (101). A significant need to implement MRI as a diagnostic tool arises, when there is a syndromic profile present and when there is electrophysiological evidence of unilateral AN in association with a profound hearing loss, as there is a distinct possibility of CND in these patients (23, 103).

Finally, genetic testing for mutations of the OTOF gene may be proposed to supplement the assessment algorithm, especially in cases of prelingual children presenting with the AN phenotype in the absence of a neurological syndrome (60). These cases of non-syndromic AN can be detected at a molecular level and finding the genetic cause has important implications for treatment options and prognosis (10, 61).

It has been made clear that it is imperative for diagnostic techniques to be developed in order to better identify both the site of lesion and degree of abnormality in each AN patient, which in turn will lead to optimum treatment options and outcomes in these patients. MRI is helpful for children with hypoplasia, but is not diagnostically practical for other types of AN. Even though EABR measurement does not identify the site of lesion and the patient must have already undergone the invasive procedure of CI, a positive response is strongly associated with favorable CI outcomes (104), thus, making this examination necessary in AN implant patients.

4.6. Treatment modalities and outcomes

Due to the variation in clinical presentation across individuals with AN, the need for individualized and refined management strategies arises (19). The development of auditory and communication skills in children with prelingual onset of AN is of utmost importance, but the implementation of the appropriate treatment interventions are very challenging for the clinician. Having all of the above in mind, many studies aimed to glean the potential of optimum outcomes from the various management interventions such as; ameliorating signal-to-noise ratio, the amplification of the acoustic signal and improvement of speech audibility with the use of conventional HAs, improvements in hearing skills and development of auditory and speech skills in children using CIs.

4.6.1. Amplification

The American Academy of Audiology (AAA) Pediatric Amplification guidelines state that children with AN should undergo a HA trial when the evaluated auditory thresholds are inadequate to support speech perception at levels of conversation. However, very few studies, examining speech perception, or literacy outcomes for children with AN who use HAs, have been published and some of these reports have observed poor outcomes with this intervention. A study conducted by Berlin even advised that HA are not adequate treatment for AN subjects simply because they are designed to compensate for missing OHCs and in this disorder OHCs are presumably normal (105). Thus, there may be an improvement in sensitivity (86) but no improvement in speech or language acquisition as AN subjects have temporal processing difficulties, which are strongly related to speech discrimination ability (7). Current HA technology has not been able to enhance the temporal envelope of the speech signal to compensate for temporal processing deficits associated with AN. Regardless of the lack of elucidating evidence at present (106), the general practice is to implement a trial of amplification with HA in order to provide appropriately audible signals for AN individuals who display reduced threshold sensitivity. Determining threshold sensitivity in young infants is a challenge, thus clinicians rely on ABR data and lately cortical responses seem to show promise in this evaluation (107, 108). Unlike the published data by Deltenre et al. (79) and Rance et al. (109) which stated favorable outcomes with the use of HA in quiet, only 15% AN-hearing aid users were successful in a study conducted by Berlin et al. (33). There seems to be a subset of children, yet to be determined, who show improvement in puretone detection thresholds, and who furthermore benefit in their speech-perception abilities from HAs (106), probably due to some preserved neural synchrony (110). A significant finding in a study by Sharma et al. was that a third of the AN patient population with HAs continued to exhibit

41

abnormal auditory cortical development, as was depicted in their cortical auditory evoked potential (CAEP) latencies. This in turn enhances the notion that these children had more severe auditory neural dys-synchrony, therefore did not benefit from the amplification of sound by HAs (111)

Thus, after having adequately informed the parents about the child's condition, the tremendous variations possible among patients, and the alterations that may appear in some children's audition over time (3), it is justified to suggest and provide conventional amplification to enhance lucid speech as an initial intervention, or during a trial period before CI (15, 19).

4.6.2. Frequency Modulation Systems

Similarly, the use of FM systems alone or in conjunction with other devices in noisy surroundings, such as classrooms or restaurants might be helpful to AN subjects. This management intervention provides an improved signal-to-noise ratio, whilst presenting minimal risks to surviving OHCs, thus aiding the AN listener with poor speech perception in noise (39, 112).

4.6.3. Cochlear Implantation

A continuously increasing plethora of evidence suggests significant advantages of CI in the management of AN (39, 113, 114, 115). Research has portrayed that both child and adult populations with AN demonstrate significant benefit from cochlear implants (Table 4.), as they present with improved sound detection and discrimination, enhanced recognition of words and sentences, thus improved speech perception in quiet and in noise and better communication skills (40, 116, 117, 118). Presently, the management of AN with cochlear implantation has become widely accepted, even though the evidence is still quite sparse and limited to case series with limited or no controls (28). Successful outcomes were portrayed in all the studies that examined audibility and speech perception progress in isolated AN patients, that is without the presence of comorbidities (33, 40, 72). Peterson et al. reported that 9 out of the 10 implanted children with isolated AN, displayed considerable improvement according to parental report using the IT-MAIS (Infant-Toddler Meaningful Auditory Integration Scale) or MAIS (Meaningful Auditory Integration Scale) questionnaire. The authors reported that the 10nth child lived in a foreign country and thus did not have post-operative data (117).

Table 4. Substantial benefit from CI in AN patients.

Citation	N	Risk Factors/Comorbidities	Previous interventions	Reported outcomes	Remarks
Berlin et al. (33)	AN-CI: 49 Total: 260	Hyperbilirubinemia/anoxia/ prematurity (n-74) Genetic (n-41), Peripheral neuropathies (n-20)	HA (27/49 implanted patients)	 a) Improvement in speech comprehension & language acquisition in 85% (42/49) of implanted patients, b) 4/49 recently implanted so no outcome data available yet. 	13/260 (5%) required NO intervention for hearing or developing speech and language, although all reported trouble hearing in noise.
Zeng & Liu (40)	AN-CI: 7 Total: 13	Hereditary (n-2) Hyperbilirubinemia (n-1) Peripheral neuropathies (n-2)	Not mentioned	81% and 67% correct scores in clear and conversational speech perception in quiet, respectively. 84% and 66%, respectively in noise.	Binaurally combined acoustic and electric stimulation yielded significantly better speech scores in quiet backgrounds, but not in noisy backgrounds.
Budenz et al. (44)	AN-CI: 26 SNHL (control): 17	Hyperbilirubinemia (n-10) Prematurity (n-13) Global developmental delay, autism, microcephaly & cerebral palsy (n-9)	HA (all patients)	 a) AN patients with cognitive or developmental disorders (9/26) performed significantly poorer as compared with those of children with isolated AN (17/26), b) Isolated AN subjects performed comparably to their peers with SNHL in speech perception category scores. 	AN subjects with cognitive or developmental disorders did derive some benefit from CI in the form of sound awareness.
Madden et al. (22)	AN-CI: 4 Total: 22	Hyperbilirubinemia (n-11) Prematurity (n-10) Hereditary (n-8) Anoxia (n-8) Cerebral palsy: (n-2) Ototoxic drug exposure: (n-9)	HA &/or FM system (16/22 patients)	Significant improvement in auditory and communication skills.	 a) No amplification required in 4/22 (18%) due to spontaneous improvement, b) 2 subjects too young to determine intervention required.

Citation	N	Risk Factors/Comorbidities	Previous interventions	Reported outcomes	Remarks
Santarelli et al. (72)	AN-CI: 8	OPA1 missense mutations (n-8)	Not mentioned	 a) Mean disyllable recognition scores (in quiet) increased from 16% before CI to 72% after 1-year's experience with CI (7/8), b) Mean disyllable recognition scores (in noise) increased from 7% before CI to 53% after 1-year's experience with CI (7/8). 	 a) OPA1 mutation causes degeneration of terminal dendrites early in the disease, b) Demyelination & axonal loss may become prevalent at an advanced stage.
Peterson et al. (117)	AN-CI: 10 SNHL (control): 10	None mentioned	Not mentioned	a) 18/20 children made progress on the post- operative ESP test.6 AN children and 5 SNHL control children moved from 0% to 100 % at least within one subtest of the ESP, b) No major differences in speech perception measures between the two groups.	 a) 1 AN child spoke only Arabic, so could not take the test, b) 1 SNHL control child had not yet reached a language age to be able to take the test.
Breneman et al. (118)	AN-CI: 35 SNHL (control): 35	Hyperbilirubinemia (n-16) Genetic (n-7) Prematurity (n-1) Infections (n-1)	HA (all patients)	 a) 32 (91%) AN children achieved some degree of open-set word recognition ability, b) Similar long-term outcomes on measures of speech recognition between AN and SNHL groups. 	5 AN children (8%) made on-going progress with hearing aids.
Jeong et al. (119)	AN-CI: 9 SNHL (control): 12	Hyperbilirubinemia (n-2) Abnormal vestibular results (n-8)	HA (all patients)	Postoperative speech perception abilities in AN children are comparable to SNHL children (CAP, p: 0.1200; Common Phrases test, p: 0.3337).	SGN cells may be comparable in the two groups as ECAP amplitude growth functions (p: 0.970) are similar among them

Citation	N	Risk Factors/Comorbidities	Previous interventions	Reported outcomes	Remarks
Buss et al. (128)	AN-CI: 4	Mondini dysplasia (n-1)	HA (all patients)	Speech data were comparable with those obtained from the general pediatric population receiving CI	Relatively poor performance on auditory tasks of one subject due to the parents' continuous use of manual communication after implantation.
Kontorinis et al. (120)	AN-CI: 27	Cognitive disorders(n-4) Autism (n-3) Dyspraxia (n-1). Hemiplegia (n-1)	HA (all patients)	 a) All AN patients demonstrated improved speech perception scores following CI, even in the long run, b) No statistical difference between CI outcomes in patients with and without AN 	 a) Cognitive disorders are a significantly negative prognostic factor for Cl outcome, b) Three subjects had fluctuating post-Cl outcomes.
Dean et al. (124)	AN-CI: 27	Hyperbilirubinemia (n-5) Prematurity (n-5) Perinatal hypoxia (n-1) Enlarged vestibular aqueduct (n-1) Hydrocephalus (n-2) Autism (n-1) Congenital anomalies (n-1) Plagiocephaly/microcephaly (n-1) Developmental delays (n-3)	HA (all patients)	 a) Improved speech perception performance after CI in 20 (74%) AN patients, b) Several medical comorbidities that were examined showed no statistically significant difference between the good and bad CI performers 	 a) Poor performers had later age of implantation, lower socioeconomic status, and lack of family support, b) Bilateral implantation in the poor performing AN patients may prove beneficial.

Citation	N	Risk Factors/Comorbidities	Previous interventions	Reported outcomes	Remarks
Shallop et al. (125)	AN-CI: 5	None mentioned	HA (all patients)	 a) Significant improvements in sound detection, speech perception abilities and communication skills in all of the implanted AN children, b) All implanted children moved from category 1 ESP preoperatively, to category 4 postoperatively, c) Children were able to talk on telephone 	No comorbidities or additional neurological disorders present.
Carvalho et al. (126)	AN-CI: 18	Neonatal diseases (n-9) Congenital rubella (n-1)	HA (all patients)	 a) Significant improvements in hearing abilities in 94% implanted AN subjects, b) Closed set speech recognition - 61% of subjects; open set speech recognition - 33% of subjects; and detection of sounds only in 6% of subjects. 	Speech perception results were better the longer the CI were used.
Mason et al. (129)	AN-CI: 6	Measles encephalitis (n-1) Hyperbilirubinemia (n-2) Ototoxic drug exposure (n-1) Genetic (n-1) HIV & cryptococcal meningitis (n-1)	HA (all patients)	a) Improved speech awareness and developing speech skills in 4/6 AN patients after implantation, b) 2/6 patients have not been implanted yet.	a) Post-implantation outcomes not available for all reported subjects, b) Auditory perception on promontory stimulation is valuable in adult patient evaluation before CI.

Citation	N	Risk Factors/Comorbidities	Previous	Reported outcomes	Remarks
			interventions		
Fulmer et al. (132)	AN-CI: 10 SNHL (control): 10	Mondini dysplasia (n-1) Hyperbilirubinemia (n-3) Hypoxia (n-3) Prematurity (n-4) Autism (n-1) Perinatal infection (n-1)	Not mentioned	Comparable SRTs in quiet and in noise in children with AN compared to children with SNHL.	Slower neural recovery observed in some AN subjects.
Wu et al. (136)	AN-CI: 10 SNHL (control): 183	Biallelic OTOF mutation (n-10) Biallelic GJB2 mutations (n-25) Biallelic SLC26A4 mutations (n-23)	Not mentioned	Mean speech discrimination score in AN patients, 3years post-implant was 77.5±37.1, which was comparable to patients in the control group.	 a) No spontaneous recovery in hearing thresholds or ABR with age in the OTOF mutation AN patients, b) CI should be performed in these patients without delay.
Kim et al. (142)	AN-CI: 6 SNHL (control): 4	None mentioned	Not mentioned	 a) Comparable ECAP recovery function in children with AN and children with SNHL, b) Robust ECAP responses presented with good speech perception scores 	Implanted AN subjects with robust ECAP responses performed as well as or even better than the 78 implanted children with SNHL
Schramm & Harrison et al. (143)	AN-CI: 16 SNHL (control): 32	NICU admission (n-10) Genetic (n-2) Syndromic (n-2)	HA (all patients)	Similar outcome results in auditory skills and speech perception among AN subjects and age-matched SNHL patients	CI should be considered in AN patients if conventional amplification fails

Citation	N	Risk Factors/Comorbidities	Previous interventions	Reported outcomes	Remarks
Chisholm et al. (144)	AN-CI: 5	Thin or small cochlear nerve (n-5)	Not mentioned	Delayed development of spoken speech and language in some AN children (4/5) with compromised auditory nerves may be achieved after Cl	Results beyond 2 years were not available for one of the children.
Shallop (127)	AN-CI: 10 (children) AN-CI: 2 (adults)	None mentioned	HA (1 adult patient)	 a) 8 to 91% improvement in MAIS for all the AN children, b) Improved speech recognition and communication in the AN adults 	CI restores neural synchrony in AN patients who then progress in their speech and language skills development
Liu et al. (145)	AN-CI: 10	None mentioned	Not mentioned	All implanted AN children developed time-related auditory perception and speech skills	AN children implanted before 24 months tended to acquire better auditory and speech skills than children implanted after 24 months
Starr et al. (146)	AN-CI: 3 Total: 5	Genetic (n-5)	HA (all patients)	Improved speech recognition in all implanted AN patients	Conclusions should be viewed as suggestive due to the small number of patients implanted
Daneshi et al. (147)	AN-CI: 136	Not documented in the study	HA (all patients)	 a) Significant improvement in auditory perception ability in implanted AN individuals, b) No significant difference between CI outcomes in patients with and without AN. 	 a) Auditory performance and speech production depend on age of implantation, b) Long-term outcomes not available for all patients, due to the retrospective nature of study.

The results from a study by Breneman et al. on 35 subject pairs demonstrated that children with AN can definitely benefit from CI and that their long-term outcomes are equivalent to matched peers with SNHL, on speech recognition measures (118). This research article excluded the AN patients with significant cognitive and global developmental delays from their implant population, in order to glean the outcome results of isolated AN subjects, but they did note that even these patients benefit from CI as it provides awareness of sound and improves quality of life according to the parents. Jeong and colleagues also excluded comorbidities such as mental retardation and developmental disorders in their AN patient population and denoted that CI outcomes regarding speech perception abilities in these patients were similar to non-neuropathic SNHL subjects (119).

Among the studies reviewed in this literature review, some compared speech perception in CI-children with AN versus children with SNHL. The majority of these studies denoted that auditory performance in AN patients after CI was comparable to that of the children with SNHL using CI, presenting with similar results in speech perception tests. Successful outcomes have been shown in a study conducted by Kontorinis et al. where 27 children implanted at a mean age of 35.4 months had statistically significant improvement in speech perception and language development similar to implanted children with SNHL (120). The authors did note, however, that their 4 patients with cognitive disorders (3-autism, 1-dyspraxia, 1-hemiplegia) performed worse than children with isolated AN, even though they did gain some benefit from implantation (120).

Humphriss et al. conducted a systematic review that concluded that most children with AN achieved open-set speech after implantation and that the resulting outcomes were comparable to implanted SNHL individuals. Nevertheless, the authors denoted that although currently available evidence demonstrates favorable outcomes from CI in AN children, the data is weak and stronger evidence is needed to support the effectiveness of this intervention (121). A systematic review, conducted by Fernandes and colleagues, evaluated the performance of hearing skills in children with AN after CI, and after the appraisal of 18 articles and two dissertations, concluded that noteworthy improvement in speech perception skills, equivalent to cochlear implantation outcome of children with SNHL, is denoted in the literature (122). Finally, a recent study by Sarankumar et al. demonstrated that CI, in the 10 AN children that were assessed, showed significant benefit in hearing perception and speech outcomes at one year post-surgery. The authors also displayed that the speech outcomes after CI in AN children having profound cochlear loss (123).

On the other hand one study demonstrated that AN patients presented with poorer auditory performance than SNHL patients after implantation. This report by Rance et al. denoted that the children with SNHL using CI performed significantly better (p = 0.02) compared to the three groups of children with AN (CI users, HA users, and CI + HA users). Thus, the authors concluded that even though CI offers the possibility of speech perception to subjects with AN; some individuals may benefit from conventional amplification with HAs (109). The vast majority of the studies published in the literature, to date, indicate that AN children implanted with CI are benefited in the acquisition of hearing skills, which in turn leads to improved communication skills (124, 125). An early study by Shallop et al. demonstrated that the 5 children with isolated AN, managed with CIs had successful outcomes, as they showed improved communicative abilities after implantation (125). Encouraging results were also gleaned from a study conducted by de Carvalho et al. as it was noted that the hearing abilities of 94% of their 18 study subjects improved significantly and that speech perception results were better the longer the CIs were used (126). A retrospective review by Berlin et al. evaluated and summarized the management data of 260 AN patients, of which 85 of these subjects had HA and 49 patients tried CI. The authors reported that 85% of patients who were implanted presented with improved speech comprehension and language acquisition, whereas only 15% reported some benefit from HA. It was also noted that normal speech and language developed without intervention in approximately 5% (13/260) of the total population (33). Teagle et al. included 140 patients with AN in their study and reported that 50% of their subjects successfully achieved open set speech recognition after CI. It is of significance to note that 42% of the studied patient population was born prematurely and suffered from a variety of medical comorbidities and 38% had abnormal findings on preoperative MRI of the brain and inner ear. Thus, it is feasible that the authors concluded that poor outcomes were accounted for by the concurrent medical and cognitive comorbidities in the patient population and the lack of neural synchronization (35). It is important to note that definitive conclusions cannot be made, regarding speech perception outcomes in CI-AN subjects, as studies varied greatly in type of speech perception measures reported and the heterogeneous patient populations included, thus, making it difficult to interpret the results among studies.

It is of interest to mention that even AN patients with mild to moderate pure-tone threshold average, yet poor speech intelligibility, benefit from CI in significantly improved conversational speech discrimination post-surgically. A study by Zeng and Liu (40) demonstrated that in their AN patient population with CI one patient suffered from poor speech intelligibility (60% clear speech, 45% conversational speech), even though the puretone threshold average (31-40dB) was mild to moderate, benefitted significantly from CI in clear and conversational speech discrimination (80% clear speech, 70% conversational

50

speech). Furthermore, these results were further improved in quiet backgrounds with binaurally combined acoustic and electric stimulation. There is a scarcity of published data specifically regarding AN patients with milder hearing loss undergoing CI, but if residual hearing with good audibility is ultimately not useful in facilitating communication, it is reasonable to suggest that these patients might improve with CI (115). Shallop also reported a patient with mild to moderate hearing loss in both ears, who received a CI unilaterally and demonstrated improved word recognition scores and better speech discrimination in noisy environments post-surgically (127).

Theoretically, the electric signals from the CI may improve synchronization within the auditory pathway in AN subjects, as is evident with the synchronous neural responses in EABRs and neural response telemetry (40, 41, 128, 129), thus ameliorating temporal processing in these patients. The evoked potential measures, taken in the pre-operative, intraoperative, and postoperative settings, demonstrate that the restoration of neural synchrony or the increased number of responding neurons probably occur at multiple levels of the auditory pathways in AN individuals . The extent to which cochlear implants can overcome poor neural synchrony, however, is still under investigation (130, 131, 132). The literature has deemed the implementation of intraoperative electrophysiological measures, such as ECAP and EABR, competent measures to predict the expected outcome of CI surgery in AN children (35, 104, 118). Although, it is of significance to note that the presence of normal EABR/ECAP measurements does not necessarily guarantee success with implantation as these measures reflect an intact auditory pathway at the level of the brainstem and do not measure higher cortical responses (118). A study by Gibson and Sanli portrayed better speech perception scores in AN CI-candidates than their SNHL peers at 1 and 2 years post-CI when AN subjects displayed normal intraoperative electric ABR waveforms (p < 0.01 and 0.05, respectively) and significantly worse outcome results when the intraoperative EABR waveforms were abnormal (85). Gibson and Graham in an editorial elucidating the myths and facts of cochlear implantation in AN subjects, stated that normal EABR waveforms indicate that in most ears (75%), the disorder is due to loss of IHC with survival of OHC leading to dys-synchrony of the basilar membrane, therefore benefitting from CI. In the other 25% the hair cell dys-synchrony correlates to an abnormality of the neural pathway, thus achieving only limited speech perception scores post-CI (133).

Needless to say, if there is a presynaptic lesion or at the hair cell level, CI will have comparable outcomes to non-AN deaf patients, but subjects who present with a pathology involving the cochlear nerve and higher in the auditory pathway will have limited benefit with CI (134). This is depicted in many studies that utilized MRI and high resolution CT scans to

51

analyze the associated abnormalities in the inner ear in patients diagnosed with AN. A study by Walton et al. demonstrated that AN patients with CND presented with abnormal EABR response and poor auditory performance, when measured by speech perception score, after implantation (104). Fontenot and colleagues also made reference to several risk factors associated with AN and other comorbidities such as anatomical abnormalities of the temporal bone, including CND and enlarged vestibular aqueduct in their cohort study. The authors disclosed that these findings in individuals diagnosed with AN were negatively associated with achievement of open-set speech perception after CI (135). A study by Teagle et al. portrayed that 9 of the 16 children with absent or abnormal ECAP measures had abnormal findings in their imaging examinations. The authors demonstrated that there is a strong correlation between poor auditory performance and abnormal MRI as well as absent or abnormal ECAP after CI. The authors concluded that poor open-set-speech perception outcomes after CI are often the case, especially when CND is identified (35).

The literature has also demonstrated that patients with non-syndromic recessive AN may benefit from CI (60, 61). Thus, AN individuals with OTOF mutations have successful outcome results after implantation, presenting optimum clinical responses and electrophysiological tests postoperatively (60, 136). A recent study evaluating the postimplant outcome results in patients carrying another mutation associated with AN, the OPA1mutation, concluded that CI in these individuals is successful. The underlying hearing disorder in these OPA1 patients is a dys-synchrony in auditory nerve fibre activity occurring due to neural degeneration affecting the terminal dendrites, therefore, the authors denoted that electrical stimulation via the CI is capable of improving synchronous activity in auditory brainstem pathways, hence hearing thresholds and speech perception (72).

Certain cases of patients, diagnosed with AN, present with a fluctuating course of hearing disability which needs to be taken into account when management intervention with CI is considered (42). Caution should be taken when considering AN subjects as possible candidates for CIs, as several patients displayed significant auditory improvement on extensive follow-up in a study conducted by Attias et al. (20). AN cases need to have an adequate chance to spontaneously retrieve useful hearing levels by ongoing auditory pathway maturation (39), therefore, the decision regarding intervention with a CI after failure of conventional rehabilitation, should not be made before the patient reaches 1 year of life and repeated follow-up measures have displayed negligent signs of improvement (37).

A report by de Carvalho et al. evaluated the satisfaction of AN individuals one year after CI, using the SADL questionnaire (Satisfaction with Amplification in Daily Life), and concluded

that these patients were satisfied with the CI intervention as the average of the overall satisfaction score (Likert scale, ranging 0-10) was 8 (137).

The literature has also depicted AN cases with variable outcome results after CI, however, the variability observed in AN individuals is possibly related to the uncertainty regarding the site of lesion, which could result in unpredictable performance after implantation (11,138). A study by Ji et al. concluded that CI benefits prelingual AN children to different extents, as some of their patient population showed improved speech recognition and others gained effective speech recognition in noisy environments, whereas others made no progress whatsoever and furthermore, no patient displayed effective social communication (138). A review by Harrison et al. stated that it is imperative for AN to be subdivided into more discrete disease entities, in order for reliable prediction of functional outcome results with CI, to be gained (27). Moreover, children diagnosed with AN associated with other cognitive or developmental anomalies may show limited benefit from CI but are more likely to continue to rely on other methods of communication after implantation, as was portrayed in a study by Budenz et al. This study compared CI-outcomes in children with isolated AN to 9 AN children with confounding cognitive or developmental co-morbidities and concluded that the latter had significantly poorer outcomes after implantation (44). The knowledge derived from these studies is valuable as the identification of the correct etiology is crucial in order to identify potential co-morbidities at an early stage which in turn will significantly help in predicting the prognosis and outcome of hearing rehabilitation, therefore, direct optimum patient management.

It is clear that AN is a disease category with many different etiologies and includes patients with a wide range of functional severity, co-morbidities and anatomical abnormalities, in addition to the range of functional impairments from the isolated neuropathy. The up-to-date literature that focuses on patients with isolated AN is meager, yet the majority of these publications denote favorable outcomes regarding speech perception skills and audibility in implanted AN individuals (Table 4.). On the other hand, the research articles that have heterogeneous AN patient populations with subjects that present with concomitant non-auditory factors such as autism, CNS abnormalities, cognitive disorders and developmental delays portray a percentage of poor CI outcomes which they attribute to these factors (Table 3.) A study by Dean et al. duly noted that even though their AN patient population also consisted of several medical co-morbidities (2-hydrocephalus, 1-autism, 1-congenital anomalies, 1-plagiocephaly/ microcephaly, 3-developmental delays) the speech perception outcomes in the implanted individuals showed no statistically significant difference between the good and poor performers (124).

Determination of CI suitability is a challenge for AN patients and due to the heterogeneity of the participants, the varied outcomes reported and the methodological limitations of the studies, definitive conclusions cannot be drawn in order to guide the clinician. Thus, it is imperative that high-quality research studies, such as well-controlled, longitudinal prospective studies with homogeneous grouping of study participants are undertaken to evaluate the efficacy of CI and the impact of various co-morbidities on auditory, speech, language, and learning outcomes of these individuals. Undeniably, in the interest of promoting evidence-based practices, there is also a need for further published data regarding CI in AN patients with mild to moderate hearing acuity in order to discern the benefits in speech discrimination abilities. No studies up to date have reported social, emotional or academic outcomes for AN subjects with CI, and the literature is still lacking on the management interventions for AN children with mild to-moderate pure-tone thresholds. Further research and advances in technology will provide more lucid answers regarding etiology and predicted outcomes as well as means to meliorate audibility and speech clarity for AN individuals in the future.

4.6.4. Innovative Treatment Methods for Auditory Neuropathy

Promising clinical implications for patients with AN are presented in research studies that investigate the viability of various stem cell types for the replacement of auditory neurons in impaired cochleas (139). A recently reported discovery by Chen and colleagues, demonstrated 46% success in restoration of hearing thresholds in a rodent AN model, after transplantation of human pluripotent stem cells. The authors relayed that improved hearing function correlated with new synapse formation in the peripheral and central aspects of the auditory system (140). These encouraging results and further investigations will bring us closer to the clinical application of stem cells for the management AN in the future.

5. Conclusion

Auditory neuropathy is a more frequent disorder than was speculated in the past. Major risk factors such as hyperbilirubinemia and immaturity are being associated with this disorder and recent investigations have led to important information involving the genetic substrate responsible for the AN phenotype in certain cases. Although the underlying lesion(s) and the pathophysiologic mechanisms in AN are fundamental in understanding and treating the disorder, the related evidence is still obscure, thus continued research is essential in order to elucidate the true pathology resulting in this disease entity. The most likely underlying pathophysiologic mechanisms leading to impairment in the subjects' temporal processing abilities are synaptic deficiency and dys-synchrony of neural discharge, which in turn lead to

hindered auditory skills and spoken language abilities. Consequently, a thorough diagnostic regime is of utmost importance in order to attain an accurate diagnosis of AN in these patients. The diagnostic protocol should include OAEs and CMs in individuals with absent or severely atypical ABR waveforms, bearing in mind that fluctuations in audiometric findings are quite possible in these children. Furthermore, genetic testing might be feasible to be included in the diagnostic work-up as well as MRI or high resolution CT scans, in order to unmask comorbidities and CND especially in CI-candidates.

The management of these individuals is very challenging, and consensus regarding amplification and optimum auditory rehabilitation has yet to be reached. The main goal of any treatment modality implemented on children is to provide adequate hearing ability in order to develop auditory skills and oral communication. Serial clinical and audiometric evaluations should be implemented in young children before CI is considered, as spontaneous recovery of hearing is not uncommon in some of these AN subjects. Focusing on the management of children with AN; it is of paramount importance that diagnosis and intervention be executed rapidly and modified according to each child's needs and progress. Firstly, the parents must be notified of the child's condition and what realistic expectations can be harbored in each treatment intervention, regarding speech perception performance. Secondly, conventional amplification, tailored with meticulous speech and language therapy is currently the cornerstone of management strategies for children with AN. Hearing aids are still a justified management option, hence are implemented in all AN children initially, as a subpopulation of AN patients do benefit from it by improving clear speech, and during the assessment period before CI in order to ascertain that speech development is hindered. In order to achieve oral communication a child must be able to gain auditory skills to discriminate speech and thus replicate it. Thus, the third step in the management strategy is to improve synchronization within the auditory system, which is made feasible with CI which is currently the intervention option of choice for AN patients with severe auditory processing difficulties.

The data gleaned in this review of the literature support the conclusion that cochlear implantation positively affects hearing and communication skills in AN individuals. Mounting evidence suggests that CI is a justified management intervention in the treatment of AN as it has been remarkably successful in adult and child populations as they present with significant perceptual benefits and speech perception performance post-surgically. However, due to the heterogeneity of this disorder, patient selection should be cautious in order to identify the subjects that will have successful hearing and speech outcomes with CI. Thus, comorbities need to be identified and electrophysiological testing that may predict postsurgery outcome results may be utilized. Nevertheless, an essential number of AN children

55

with concomitant non-auditory pathologies, receiving CI, may still benefit considerably from implantation, either by achieving open-set speech or acquiring environmental sound awareness, improved quality of life, or satisfaction of the child and family. Cochlear implantation in such AN children needs to be tailored for each patient and family and requires realistic expectations for post-CI performance and appropriate counseling (141).

6. References

- Starr A, McPherson D, Patterson J, Don M, Luxford W, Shannon R, et al. Absence of both auditory evoked potentials and auditory percepts dependent on timing cues. Brain. 1991 Jun;114 (Pt 3):1157-80.
- 2. Zeng FG, Oba S, Garde S, Sininger Y, Starr A. Temporal and speech processing deficits in auditory neuropathy. Neuroreport. 1999 Nov 8;10(16):3429-35.
- Berlin CI, Hood L, Morlet T, Rose K, Brashears S. Auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony: diagnosis and management. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev. 2003;9(4):225-31.
- 4. Starr A, Picton TW, Sininger Y, Hood LJ, Berlin CI. Auditory neuropathy. Brain. 1996 Jun;119 (Pt 3):741-53.
- 5. Moser T, Starr A. Auditory neuropathy--neural and synaptic mechanisms. Nat Rev Neurol. 2016 Mar;12(3):135-49.
- 6. Rance G, Ryan MM, Carew P, Corben LA, Yiu E, Tan J, et al. Binaural speech processing in individuals with auditory neuropathy. Neuroscience. 2012 Dec 13;226:227-35.
- 7. Rance G, McKay C, Grayden D. Perceptual characterization of children with auditory neuropathy. Ear Hear. 2004 Feb;25(1):34-46.
- 8. Zeng FG, Kong YY, Michalewski HJ, Starr A. Perceptual consequences of disrupted auditory nerve activity. J Neurophysiol. 2005 Jun;93(6):3050-63.
- 9. Glowatzki E, Grant L, Fuchs P. Hair cell afferent synapses. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2008;18(4):389-95.
- 10. Santarelli R. Information from cochlear potentials and genetic mutations helps localize the lesion site in auditory neuropathy. Genome Med. 2010 Dec 22;2(12):91.
- 11. Rance G, Starr A. Pathophysiological mechanisms and functional hearing consequences of auditory neuropathy. Brain. 2015 Nov;138(Pt 11):3141-58.
- Sivera R, Cavalle L, Vílchez JJ, Espinós C, Pérez Garrigues H, Sevilla T. Audiological Findings in Charcot-Marie-Tooth Disease Type 4C. J Int Adv Otol. 2017 Apr;13(1):93-99. {64});
- Rapin I, Gravel JS. Auditory neuropathy: a biologically inappropriate label unless acoustic nerve involvement is documented. J Am Acad Audiol. 2006 Feb;17(2):147-50. {66}
- 14. Cacace AT, Pinheiro JM. The mitochondrial connection in auditory neuropathy. Audiol Neurootol. 2011;16(6):398-413. {12},
- 15. Doyle KJ, Sininger Y, Starr A. Auditory neuropathy in childhood. Laryngoscope. 1998 Sep;108(9):1374-7. {26}.

- 16. Rance G, Corben L, Delatycki M. Auditory processing deficits in children with Friedreich ataxia. J Child Neurol. 2012 Sep;27(9):1197-203.{65}
- 17. Attias J, Raveh E, Aizer-Dannon A, Bloch-Mimouni A, Fattal-Valevski A. Auditory system dysfunction due to infantile thiamine deficiency: long-term auditory sequelae. Audiol Neurootol. 2012;17(5):309-20. {13}
- Masuda T, Kaga K. Influence of aging over 10 years on auditory and vestibular functions in three patients with auditory neuropathy. Acta Otolaryngol. 2011 May;131(5):562-8. {14}
- Rance G, Beer DE, Cone-Wesson B, Shepherd RK, Dowell RC, King AM, et al. Clinical findings for a group of infants and young children with auditory neuropathy. Ear Hear. 1999 Jun;20(3):238-52. {15}
- 20. Attias J, Raveh E. Transient deafness in young candidates for cochlear implants. Audiol Neurootol. 2007;12(5):325-33.{33}
- 21. Berg AL, Spitzer JB, Towers HM, Bartosiewicz C, Diamond BE. Newborn hearing screening in the NICU: profile of failed auditory brainstem response/passed otoacoustic emission. Pediatrics. 2005 Oct;116(4):933-8.{43}
- Madden C, Rutter M, Hilbert L, Greinwald JH Jr, Choo DI. Clinical and audiological features in auditory neuropathy. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2002 Sep;128(9):1026-30.{44}
- 23. Buchman CA, Roush PA, Teagle HF, Brown CJ, Zdanski CJ, Grose JH. Auditory neuropathy characteristics in children with cochlear nerve deficiency. Ear Hear. 2006 Aug;27(4):399-408.{16}
- 24. Starr A, Sininger YS, Pratt H. The varieties of auditory neuropathy. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol. 2000;11(3):215-30.{23}
- 25. Beutner D, Foerst A, Lang-Roth R, von Wedel H, Walger M. Risk factors for auditory neuropathy/auditory synaptopathy. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec. 2007;69(4):239-44. {42}
- 26. Coenraad S, Goedegebure A, van Goudoever JB, Hoeve LJ. Risk factors for auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder in NICU infants compared to normal-hearing NICU controls. Laryngoscope. 2011 Apr;121(4):852-5.{45}
- 27. Harrison RV, Gordon KA, Papsin BC, Negandhi J, James AL. Int J Auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder (ANSD) and cochlear implantation. Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2015;79(12):1980-7.{17}
- 28. Pham NS. The management of pediatric hearing loss caused by auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2017 Oct;25(5):396-399.{18}
- 29. Soares ID, Menezes PL, Carnaúba AT, de Andrade KC, Lins OG. Study of cochlear microphonic potentials in auditory neuropathy. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol. 2016 Nov Dec;82(6):722-736.{19}

- 30. Starr A, Michalewski HJ, Zeng FG, Fujikawa-Brooks S, Linthicum F, Kim CS, et al. Pathology and physiology of auditory neuropathy with a novel mutation in the MPZ gene (Tyr145->Ser). Brain. 2003 Jul;126(Pt 7):1604-19. {20}
- 31. Penido RC, Isaac ML. Prevalence of auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder in an auditory health care service. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol. 2013 Aug;79(4):429-33.{36}
- 32. Rance G, Starr A. Auditory neuropathy/dys-synchrony. In: Seewald RC, Tharpe AM. Comprehensive handbook of pediatric audiology. Plural Publishing. 2011; 225– 42.{21}
- 33. Berlin CI, Hood LJ, Morlet T, Wilensky D, Li L, Mattingly KR, et al. Multi-site diagnosis and management of 260 patients with auditory neuropathy/dys-synchrony (auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder). Int J Audiol. 2010 Jan;49(1):30-43.{22}
- 34. Rance G. Auditory neuropathy/dys-synchrony and its perceptual consequences. Trends Amplif. 2005;9(1):1-43.{24}
- Teagle HF, Roush PA, Woodard JS, Hatch DR, Zdanski CJ, Buss E, et al. Cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Ear and Hearing. 2010; 31(3):325–335.{29}
- 36. Vlastarakos PV, Nikolopoulos TP, Tavoulari E, Papacharalambous G, Korres S. Auditory neuropathy: endocochlear lesion or temporal processing impairment? Implications for diagnosis and management. J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2008 Aug;72(8):1135-50.{25}
- Raveh E, Buller N, Badrana O, Attias J. Auditory neuropathy: clinical characteristics and therapeutic approach. American Journal of Otolaryngology. 2007; 28(5):302– 308.{104}
- Starr A, Sininger Y, Winter M, Derebery MJ, Oba S, Michalewski HJ. Transient deafness due to temperature-sensitive auditory neuropathy. Ear Hear. 1998 Jun;19(3):169-79.{27}
- 39. Madden C, Hilbert L, Rutter M, Greinwald J, Choo D. Pediatric cochlear implantation in auditory neuropathy. Otol Neurotol. 2002 Mar;23(2):163-8.{28}
- 40. Zeng FG, Liu S. Speech perception in individuals with auditory neuropathy. J Speech Lang Hear Res. 2006 Apr;49(2):367-80.{30}
- 41. Sininger YS, Trautwein P. Electrical stimulation of the auditory nerve via cochlear implants in patients with auditory neuropathy. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol Suppl. 2002 May;189:29-31.{31}
- 42. Psarommatis I, Riga M, Douros K, Koltsidopoulos P, Douniadakis D, Kapetanakis I et al. Transient infantile auditory neuropathy and its clinical implications. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2006 Sep;70(9):1629-37.{32}
- 43. Pelosi S, Wanna G, Hayes C, Sunderhaus L, Haynes DS, Bennett ML, et al. Cochlear implantation versus hearing amplification in patients with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2013 May;148(5):815-21.{34}

- 44. Budenz CL, Telian SA, Arnedt C, Starr K, Arts HA, El-Kashlan HK, et al. Outcomes of cochlear implantation in children with isolated auditory neuropathy versus cochlear hearing loss. Otol Neurotol. 2013 Apr;34(3):477-83.{35}
- 45. Foerst A. Beutner D, Lang-Roth R, Huttenbrink KB, von Wedel H, Walger M. Prevalence of auditory neuropathy/synaptopathy in a population of children with profound hearing loss. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2006 Aug;70(8):1415-22.{37}
- 46. Mittal R, Ramesh AV, Panwar SS, Nilkanthan A, Nair S, Mehra PR. Auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: its prevalence and audiological characteristics in an Indian tertiary care hospital. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2012 Sep;76(9):1351-4.{40}
- Maris M, Venstermans C, Boudewyns AN. Auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony as a cause of failed neonatal hearing screening. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2011 Jul;75(7):973-5.{39}
- 48. Tang TP, McPherson B, Yuen KC, Wong LL, Lee JS. Auditory neuropathy/auditory dys-synchrony in school children with hearing loss: frequency of occurrence. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2004 Feb;68(2):175-83.{41}
- 49. Rajput K, Saeed M, Ahmed J, Chung M, Munro C, Patel S, et al. Findings from aetiological investigation of Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder in children referred to cochlear implant programs. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2019 Jan;116:79-83.{46}
- 50. Shapiro SM, Nakamura H. Bilirubin and the auditory system. J Perinatol. 2001 Dec;21 Suppl 1:S52-5; discussion S59-62. {47}
- Nickisch A, Massinger C, Ertl-Wagner B, von Voss H. Pedaudiologic findings after severe neonatal hyperbilirubinemia. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2009 Feb;266(2):207-12.{48}
- 52. Saluja S, Agarwal A, Kler N, Amin S. Auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder in late preterm and term infants with severe jaundice. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2010 Nov;74(11):1292-7. {49}
- 53. Akman I, Ozek E, Kulekci S, Türkdogan D, Cebeci D, Akdaş F. Auditory neuropathy in hyperbilirubinemia: is there a correlation between serum bilirubin, neuron-specific enolase levels and auditory neuropathy? Int J Audiol. 2004 Oct;43(9):516-22.{50}
- 54. Liu C, Bu X, Wu F, Xing G. Unilateral Auditory Neuropathy Caused by Cochlear Nerve Deficiency. International Journal of Otolaryngology. 2012;2012:5.{51}
- 55. Kim SH, Choi HS, Han YE, Choi BY. Diverse etiologies manifesting auditory neuropathy characteristics from infants with profound hearing loss and clinical implications. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2016 Jul;86:63-7.{52}
- 56. Xoinis K, Weirather Y, Mavoori H, Shaha SH, Iwamoto LM. Extremely low birth weight infants are at high risk for auditory neuropathy. J Perinatol. 2007 Nov;27(11):718-23.{53}
- 57. Rance G, Chisari D, O'Hare F, Roberts L, Shaw J, Jandeleit-Dahm K, et al. Auditory neuropathy in individuals with Type 1 diabetes. J Neurol. 2014 Aug;261(8):1531-6.{54}

- 58. Acar M, Aycan Z, Acar B, Ertan U, Peltek HN, Karasen RM. Audiologic evaluation in pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2012;25(5-6):503-8. {162}
- 59. Del Castillo FJ, Del Castillo I. Genetics of isolated auditory neuropathies. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 2012;17:1251–65. {55}
- 60. Rodrı'guez-Ballesteros M, del Castillo F.J, Martı'n Y, Moreno-Pelayo M.A, Morera C, Prieto F, et al. Auditory neuropathy in patients carrying mutations in the otoferlin gene (OTOF), Hum Mutat. 2003 Dec;22(6):451-6.{56}
- 61. Varga R, Kelley P.M, Keats B.J, Starr A, Leal S.M, Cohn E, et al., Non-syndromic recessive auditory neuropathy is the result of mutations in the otoferlin (OTOF) gene. J Med Genet. 2003 Jan;40(1):45-50.{57}
- 62. Wang Q, Gu R, Han D, Yang W. Familial auditory neuropathy. Laryngoscope. 2003 Sep;113(9):1623-9.{58}
- 63. Kim TB, Isaacson B, Sivakumaran TA, Starr A, Keats BJ, Lesperance MM. A gene responsible for autosomal dominant auditory neuropathy (AUNA1) maps to 13q14-21. J Med Genet. 2004 Nov;41(11):872-6.{59}
- 64. Carvalho GM, Ramos PZ, Castilho AM, Guimarães AC, Sartorato EL. Molecular study of patients with auditory neuropathy. Mol Med Rep. 2016 Jul;14(1):481-90.{60}
- 65. Manchaiah VK, Zhao F, Danesh AA, Duprey R. The genetic basis of auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder (ANSD). Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2011;75:151– 8.{61}
- 66. Varga R, Avenarius MR, Kelley PM, Keats BJ, Berlin CI, Hood LJ. et al. OTOF mutations revealed by genetic analysis of hearing loss families including a potential temperature sensitive auditory neuropathy allele. J Med Genet. 2006 Jul;43(7):576-81.{62}
- 67. Lang-Roth R, Fischer-Krall E, Kornblum C, Nürnberg G, Meschede D, Goebel I et al. AUNA2: A Novel Type of Non-Syndromic Slowly Progressive Auditory Synaptopathy/Auditory Neuropathy with Autosomal-Dominant Inheritance. Audiol Neurootol. 2017;22(1):30-40.{63}
- 68. Starr A, Zeng FG, Michalewski HJ, Moser T. Perspectives on Auditory Neuropathy: Disorders of Inner Hair Cell, Auditory Nerve, and Their Synapse. In The Senses: A Comprehensive Reference. UC Irvine. 2010.{67}
- 69. Sawada S, Mori N, Mount RJ, Harrison RV. Differential vulnerability of inner and outer hair cell systems to chronic mild hypoxia and glutamate ototoxicity: insights into the cause of auditory neuropathy. J Otolaryngol. 2001 Apr;30(2):106-14.{68}
- El-Badry MM, McFadden SL. Evaluation of inner hair cell and nerve fiber loss as sufficient pathologies underlying auditory neuropathy. Hear Res. 2009 Sep;255(1-2):84-90.{69}

- 71. Kumar AU, Jayaram M. Auditory processing in individuals with auditory neuropathy. Behav Brain Funct. 2005 Dec 1;1:21.{70}
- 72. Santarelli R, Rossi R, Scimemi P, Cama E, Valentino ML, La Morgia C, et al. OPA1related auditory neuropathy: site of lesion and outcome of cochlear implantation. Brain 2015c; 138(Pt 3): 563–76.{71}
- 73. Ye HB, Shi HB, Wang J, Ding DL, Yu DZ, Chen ZN. et al. Bilirubin induces auditory neuropathy in neonatal guinea pigs via auditory nerve fiber damage. J Neurosci Res. 2012 Nov;90(11):2201-13.{72}
- 74. Olds C, Oghalai JS. Bilirubin-Induced Audiologic Injury in Preterm Infants. Clin Perinatol. 2016 Jun;43(2):313-23{73}
- 75. Boo NY. Current understanding of auditory neuropathy. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 2008 Dec;37(12 Suppl):60-3.{74}
- 76. Attias J, Buller N, Rubel Y, Raveh E. Multiple auditory steady-state responses in children and adults with normal hearing, sensorineural hearing loss, or auditory neuropathy. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 2006 Apr;115(4):268-76. {75}
- 77. Rance G, Rickards F. Prediction of hearing threshold in infants using auditory steadystate evoked potentials. J Am Acad AudioI. 2002;13:236-45.{76}
- 78. Berlin CI, Bordelon J, St John P, Wilensky D, Hurley A, Kluka E, et al. Reversing click polarity may uncover auditory neuropathy in infants. Ear Hear. 1998 Feb;19(1):37-47.{77}
- 79. Deltenre P, Mansbach AL, Bozet C, Christiaens F, Barthelemy P, Paulissen D, et al. Auditory neuropathy with preserved cochlear microphonics and secondary loss of otoacoustic emissions. Audiology. 1999 Jul-Aug;38(4):187-95.{78}
- Starr A, Sininger Y, Nguyen T, Michalewski HJ, Oba S, Abdala C. Cochlear receptor (microphonic and summating potentials, otoacoustic emissions) and auditory pathway (auditory brain stem potentials) activity in auditory neuropathy. Ear Hear. 2001 Apr;22(2):91-9.{79}
- 81. Abdala C, Sininger YS, Starr A. Distortion product otoacoustic emission suppression in subjects with auditory neuropathy. Ear Hear. 2000 Dec;21(6):542-53.{80}
- 82. Santarelli R, Arslan E. Electrocochleography in auditory neuropathy. Hear Res. 2002 Aug;170(1-2):32-47.{81}
- 83. Stuermer KJ, Beutner D, Foerst A, Hahn M, Lang-Roth R, Walger M. Electrocochleography in children with auditory synaptopathy/neuropathy: diagnostic findings and characteristic parameters. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2015 Feb;79(2):139-45.{82}
- 84. Withnell RH. Brief report: the cochlear microphonic as an indication of outer hair cell function. Ear Hear. 2001 Feb;22(1):75-7.{83}

- 85. Gibson WP, Sanli H. Auditory neuropathy: an update. Ear Hear. 2007 Apr;28(2 Suppl):102S-106S.{84}
- 86. Rance G, Cone-Wesson B, Wunderlich J, Dowell R. Speech perception and cortical event related potentials in children with auditory neuropathy. Ear Hear. 2002 Jun;23(3):239-53.{85}
- 87. Alvarenga KF, Amorim RB, Agostinho-Pesse RS, Costa OA, Nascimento LT, Bevilacqua MC. Speech perception and cortical auditory evoked potentials in cochlear implant users with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorders. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2012 Sep;76(9):1332-8.{86}
- 88. Ji F, Yang SM. Diagnosis and Treatment of Auditory Neuropathy and Related Research. Journal of Otology. 2012;7(2):86-91.{87}
- 89. Hood LJ. Auditory Neuropathy/Dys-Synchrony Disorder: Diagnosis and Management. Otolaryngol Clin North Am. 2015 Dec;48(6):1027-40. {88}
- 90. Caldas FF, de Castro Silva IM, Teixeira MS, Deperon TM, Cardoso CC, Barreto MA. Auditory neuropathy spectrum: the importance of adequate diagnosis. Int Tinnitus J. 2012;17(2):194-9.{89}
- 91. Unal M, Vayisoglu Y. Auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony: a retrospective analysis of 15 cases. Int Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2015 Apr;19(2):151-5. {90}
- 92. Narne VK, Prabhu P, Chandan HS, Deepthi M. Audiological profiling of 198 individuals with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Hear Balanc Commun 2014; 12: 112-20.{91}
- 93. Rance G, Barker E, Mok M, Dowell R, Rincon A, Garratt R. Speech perception in noise for children with auditory neuropathy/dys-synchrony type hearing loss. Ear Hear. 2007 Jun;28(3):351-60.{92}
- 94. Shivashankar N, Satishchandra P, Shashikala HR, Gore M. Primary auditory neuropathy an enigma. Acta Neurol Scand. 2003 Aug;108(2):130-5.{93}
- 95. Sutton GJ. Usefulness of acoustic reflexes still unproven in newborns and young infants. J Am Acad Audiol. 2007; 18(2):187.{94}
- 96. Sinha SK, Barman A, Singh NK, Rajeshwari G, Sharanya R. Vestibular test findings in individuals with auditory neuropathy: review. J Laryngol Otol. 2013 May;127(5):448-51.{95}
- 97. Sujeet KS, Niraj KS, Animesh B, Rajeshwari G, Sharanya R1. Cervical vestibular evoked myogenic potentials and caloric test results in individuals with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorders. J Vestib Res. 2014;24(4):313-23.{96}
- 98. Sheykholeslami K, Kaga K, Murofushi T, Hughes DW. Vestibular function in auditory neuropathy. Acta Otolaryngol. 2000 Oct;120(7):849-54.{97}
- 99. Prabhu P, Jamuar P. Prevalence of vestibular symptoms in individuals with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder - A retrospective study. Intractable Rare Dis Res. 2017;6(1):46-49.{98}

- 100. Fujikawa S, Starr A. Vestibular neuropathy accompanying auditory and peripheral neuropathies. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2000;126:1453–6.{99}
- 101. Roche JP, Huang BY, Castillo M, Bassim MK, Adunka OF, Buchman CA. Imaging characteristics of children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Otol Neurotol. 2010 Jul;31(5):780-8.{100}
- 102. Declau F, Boudewyns A, Van den Ende J, van de Heyning P. Auditory neuropathy: a challenge for diagnosis and treatment. B-ENT. 2013;Suppl 21:65-79{101}
- 103. Mohammadi A, Walker P, Gardner-Berry K. Unilateral auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: retrocochlear lesion in disguise? J Laryngol Otol. 2015 Jan;129 Suppl 1:S38-44. {102}
- 104. Walton J, Gibson WP, Sanli H, Prelog K. Predicting cochlear implant outcomes in children with auditory neuropathy. Otol Neurotol 2008; 29:302Y9.{103}
- 105. Berlin CI. Auditory neuropathy: Using OAEs and ABRs from screening to management. Sem Hear. 1999; 21:307-315.
- 106. Roush P, Frymark T, Venediktov R, Wang B. Audiologic management of auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder in children: a systematic review of the literature. Am J Audiol. 2011;20(2):159-170.{105}
- 107. Gardner-Berry K, Purdy SC, Ching TYC, Dillon H. The audiological journey and early outcomes of twelve infants with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder from birth to two years of age. Int J Audiol 2015;54:524–35.{106}
- 108. He S, Grose JH, Teagle HF, Woodard J, Park LR, Hatch DR, et al. Acoustically evoked auditory change complex in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: a potential objective tool for identifying cochlear implant candidates. Ear Hear. 2015 May-Jun;36(3):289-301.{107}
- 109. Rance G, Barker EJ. Speech perception in children with auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony managed with either hearing aids or cochlear implants. Otol Neurotol. 2008; 29(2):179-182. {108}
- 110. Cardon G, Sharma A. Central auditory maturation and behavioral outcome in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder who use cochlear implants. Int J Audiol. 2013 Sep;52(9):577-86.{147}
- 111. Sharma A, Cardon G, Henion K, Roland P. Cortical maturation and behavioral outcomes in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Int J Audiol. 2011; 50(2):98–106.
- 112. Hood LJ, Wilensky D, Li L, Berlin CI. The role of FM technology in the management of patients with auditory neuropathy/dys synchrony. Chicago: Proc Int Conf FM Technology; 2004.{109}
- 113. Nikolopoulos TP. Auditory dyssynchrony or auditory neuropathy: understanding the pathophysiologyand exploring methods of treatment. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2014; 78: 171-3.{110}

- 114. Jeon JH, Bae MR, Song MH, Noh SH, Choi KH, Choi JY. Relationship between electrically evoked auditory brainstem response and auditory performance after cochlear implant in patients with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Otol Neurotol. 2013 Sep;34(7):1261-6.{111}
- 115. Hayes D, Sininger YS, Northern J. Guidelines for identification and management of infants and young children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Conference NHS 2008, Como, Italy. {112}
- 116. Budenz CL, Starr K, Arnedt C, Telian SA, Arts HA, El-Kashlan HK, et al. Speech and language outcomes of cochlear implantation in children with isolated auditory neuropathy versus cochlear hearing loss. Otol Neurotol. 2013 Dec;34(9):1615-21. {113}
- 117. Peterson A, Shallop J, Driscoll C, Breneman A, Babb J, Stoeckel R, et al. Outcomes of cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy. J Am Acad Audiol. 2003 May-Jun;14(4):188-201.{114}
- 118. Breneman AI, Gifford RH, Dejong MD. Cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: long-term outcomes. J Am Acad Audiol 2012;23:5–17.{115}
- 119. Jeong SW, Kim LS, Kim BY, BaeWY, Kim JR. Cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy: outcomes and rationale. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl 2007;36Y43.{116}
- 120. Kontorinis G, Lloyd SK, Henderson L, Jayewardene-Aston D, Milward K, Bruce IA, et al. Cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorders. Cochlear Implants Int. 2014 May;15 Suppl 1:S51-4.{118}
- 121. Humphriss R, Hall A, Maddocks J, Macleod J, Sawaya K, Midgley E. Does cochlear implantation improve speech recognition in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder? A systematic review. Int J Audiol 2013; 52:442–454.{119}
- 122. Fernandes N.F, Morettin M. Yamaguti E.H. Costa O.A. Bevilacqua M.C. Performance of hearing skills in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder using cochlear implant: A systematic review, Braz J Otorhinolaryngol. 2015; 81: 85– 96.{120}
- 123. Sarankumar T, Arumugam SV, Goyal S, Chauhan N, Kumari A, Kameswaran M. Outcomes of Cochlear Implantation in Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder and the Role of Cortical Auditory Evoked Potentials in Benefit Evaluation. Turk Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2018 Mar;56(1):15-20. {121}
- 124. Dean C, Felder G, Kim AH. Analysis of speech perception outcomes among patients receiving cochlear implants with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Otol Neurotol. 2013 Dec;34(9):1610-4.{122}
- 125. Shallop JK, Peterson A, Facer GW, Fabry LB, Driscoll CL. Cochlear implants in five cases of auditory neuropathy: postoperative findings and progress. Laryngoscope. 2001 Apr;111(4 Pt 1):555-62.{123}
- 126. Carvalho AC, Bevilacqua MC, Sameshima K, Costa Filho OA. Auditory neuropathy/Auditory dyssynchrony in children with Cochlear Implants. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol. 2011 Jul-Aug;77(4):481-7.{124}

- 127. Shallop JK. Auditory Neuropathy/Dys-Synchrony in Adults and Children. Semin Hear 2002; 23(3): 215-224.{140}
- 128. Buss E, Labadie RF, Brown CJ, Gross AJ, Grose JH, Pillsbury HC. Outcome of cochlear implantation in pediatric auditory neuropathy. Otol Neurotol. 2002 May;23(3):328-32.{117}
- 129. Mason JC, De Michele A, Stevens C, Ruth RA, Hashisaki GT. Cochlear implantation in patients with auditory neuropathy of varied etiologies. Laryngoscope. 2003 Jan;113(1):45-9.{125}
- 130. Shallop JK, Jin SH, Driscoll CL, Tibesar RJ. Characteristics of electrically evoked potentials in patients with auditory neuropathy/auditory dys-synchrony. Int J Audiol. 2004 Dec;43 Suppl 1:S22-7.{126}
- 131. Runge-Samuelson CL, Drake S, Wackym PA. Quantitative analysis of electrically evoked auditory brainstem responses in implanted children with auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony. Otol Neurotol 2008; 29:174–178. {127}
- 132. Fulmer SL, Runge CL, Jensen JW, Friedland DR. Rate of neural recovery in implanted children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2011; 144:274–279.{128}
- 133. Gibson WP, Graham JM. Editorial: 'auditory neuropathy' and cochlear implantation myths and facts. Cochlear Implants Int. 2008 Mar;9(1):1-7. {129}
- 134. Bradley J, Beale T, Graham J, Bell M. Variable long-term outcomes from cochlear implantation in children with hypoplastic auditory nerves. Cochlear Implants Int. 2008 Mar;9(1):34-60.{130}
- 135. Fontenot TE, Giardina CK, Teagle HF, Park LR, Adunka OF, Buchman CA, et al. Clinical role of electrocochleography in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2017 Aug;99:120-127.{131}
- 136. Wu CC, Hsu CJ, Huang FL, Lin YH, Lin YH, Liu TC, et al. Timing of cochlear implantation in auditory neuropathy patients with OTOF mutations: Our experience with 10 patients. Clin Otolaryngol. 2018 Feb;43(1):352-357.{132}
- 137. de Carvalho GM, Zago TM, Ramos PZ, Castilho AM, Guimarães AC, Sartorato EL. Satisfaction of Children with Auditory Neuropathy and Cochlear Implant. J Int Adv Otol. 2015 Dec;11(3):229-35.{133}
- 138. Ji F, Li J. Hong M, Chen A, Jiao Q, Sun L, et al. Determination of benefits of cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):e0127566.{134}
- 139. Nayagam BA. Human stem cells ameliorate auditory evoked responses in a model of neuropathy. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2012 Nov 8;3(6):44.{135}
- 140. Chen W, Jongkamonwiwat N, Abbas L, Eshtan SJ, Johnson SL, Kuhn S, et al. Restoration of auditory evoked responses by human ES-cell derived otic progenitors. Nature 2012, 490:278-282.{136}
- 141. Hang AX, Kim GG, Zdanski CJ. Cochlear implantation in unique pediatric populations. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2012 Dec;20(6):507-17.{151}

- 142. Kim JR, Kim LS, Jeong SW, Kim JS, Chung SH. Recovery function of electrically evoked compound action potential in implanted children with auditory neuropathy: preliminary results. Acta Otolaryngol. 2011 Aug;131(8):796-801.{137}
- 143. Schramm DR, Harrison RV. Performance after cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy. Cochlear Implants Int. 2010 Jun;11 Suppl 1:207-12.{138}
- 144. Chisholm K, Gibbons A, Psarros C, Bate K, Gardner-Berry K. Longitudinal outcomes of early implantation in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder (ANSD). Cochlear Implants Int. 2010 Jun;11 Suppl 1:169-75.{139}
- 145. Liu Y, Dong R, Li Y, Xu T, Li Y, Chen X, et al. Effect of age at cochlear implantation on auditory and speech development of children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Auris Nasus Larynx. 2014 Dec;41(6):502-6.{141}
- 146. Starr A, Isaacson B, Michalewski HJ, Zeng FG, Kong YY, Beale P, et l. A dominantly inherited progressive deafness affecting distal auditory nerve and hair cells. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol. 2004 Dec;5(4):411-26.{142}
- 147. Daneshi A, Mirsalehi M, Hashemi SB, Ajalloueyan M, Rajati M, Ghasemi MM, et al. Cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: A multicenter study on auditory performance and speech production outcomes. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2018 May;108:12-16.{143}
- 148. Zdanski CJ, Buchman CA, Roush PA, Teagle HFB, Brown DJ. Cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy. Perspectives on Hearing and Hearing Disorders in Childhood. 2006; 16:367–380. {144}
- 149. Ji F, Li JN, Hong MD, Wang Q, Yang SM. Preliminary performance of cochlear implants in post-lingual patients with auditory neuropathy. Acta Otolaryngol. 2014 Mar;134(3):280-5.{145}
- 150. Neary W, Lightfoot G. Auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: Examples of poor progress following cochlear implantation, Audiological Medicine. 2012; 10(3):143-150.{146}
- 151. Ching TY, Day J, Dillon H, Gardner-Berry K, Hou S, Seeto M, et al. Impact of the presence of auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder (ANSD) on outcomes of children at three years of age. Int J Audiol. 2013 Dec;52 Suppl 2:S55-64.{148}
- 152. Greisiger R, Tvete O, Shallop J, Elle OJ, Hol PK, Jablonski GE. Cochlear implantevoked electrical auditory brainstem responses during surgery in patients with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Cochlear Implants Int. 2011 May;12 Suppl 1:S58-60.{149}
- 153. Runge CL, Jensen J, Friedland DR, Litovsky RY, Tarima S. Aiding and occluding the contralateral ear in implanted children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. J Am Acad Audiol. 2011 Oct;22(9):567-77.{150}
- 154. Liu X. Cochlear implants in genetic deafness. Journal of Otology. 2014 Dec; 9(4):156-162.{152}
- 155. Jeong SW, Kim LS. Auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: predictive value of radiologic studies and electrophysiologic tests on cochlear implant outcomes and its radiologic classification. Acta Otolaryngol. 2013 Jul;133(7):714-21.{153}

- 156. Duman K, Ayçiçek A, Sargin R, Kenar F, Yilmaz MD, Dereköy FS. Incidence of auditory neuropathy among the deaf school students. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2008 Jul;72(7):1091-5.{154}
- 157. Lotfi Y, Mehrkian S. The prevalence of auditory neuropathy in students with hearing impairment in Tehran, Iran. Arch Iran Med. 2007 Apr;10(2):233-5.{155}
- 158. Boudewyns A, Declau F, van den Ende J, Hofkens A, Dirckx S, Van de Heyning P. Auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder (ANSD) in referrals from neonatal hearing screening at a well-baby clinic. Eur J Pediatr. 2016 Jul;175(7):993-1000.{156}
- 159. Rosenhall U, Hederstierna C, Idrizbegovic E. Otological diagnoses and probable agerelated auditory neuropathy in "younger" and "older" elderly persons. Int J Audiol. 2011 Sep;50(9):578-81.{157}
- 160. Kumar UA, Jayaram MM. Prevalence and audiological characteristics in individuals with auditory neuropathy/auditory dys-synchrony. Int J Audiol. 2006 Jun;45(6):360-6.{158}
- 161. Vignesh SS, Jaya V, Muraleedharan A. Prevalence and Audiological Characteristics of Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder in Pediatric Population: A Retrospective Study. Indian J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2016 Jun;68(2):196-201.{159}
- 162. Sanyelbhaa Talaat H, Kabel AH, Samy H, Elbadry M. Prevalence of auditory neuropathy (AN) among infants and young children with severe to profound hearing loss. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2009 Jul;73(7):937-9.{160}
- 163. Kirkim G, Serbetcioglu B, Erdag TK, Ceryan K. The frequency of auditory neuropathy detected by universal newborn hearing screening program. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2008 Oct;72(10):1461-9.{161}
- 164. Rance G, Ryan MM, Bayliss K, Gill K, O'Sullivan C, Whitechurch M. Auditory function in children with Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease. Brain. 2012 May;135(Pt 5):1412-22.{163}
- 165. Shapiro SM, Popelka GR. Auditory impairment in infants at risk for bilirubin-induced neurologic dysfunction. Semin Perinatol. 2011 Jun;35(3):162-70.{164}
- 166. Menezes MP, O'Brien K, Hill M, Webster R, Antony J, Ouvrier R, et al. Auditory neuropathies in Brown-Vialetto-Van Laere syndrome due to riboflavin transporter RFVT2 deficiency. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2016 Aug; 58 (8): 848-54.{165}
- 167. Can E, Verim A, Başer E, İnan N. Auditory neuropathy in late preterm infants treated with phototherapy for hyperbilirubinemia. Int J Audiol. 2015 Feb;54(2):89-95.{166}
- 168. Dowley AC, Whitehouse WP, Mason SM, Cope Y, Grant J, Gibbin KP. Auditory neuropathy: unexpectedly common in a screened newborn population. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2009 Aug;51(8):642-6.{167}
- 169. Amin SB, Saluja S, Saili A, Laroia N, Orlando M, Wang H, et al. Auditory toxicity in late preterm and term neonates with severe jaundice. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2017 Mar;59(3):297-303.{168}

- 170. Huang BY, Roche JP, Buchman CA, Castillo M. Brain stem and inner ear abnormalities in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder and cochlear nerve deficiency. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2010 Nov;31(10):1972-9.{169}
- 171. Amin SB, Saluja S, Saili A, Orlando M, Wang H, Laroia N, et al. Chronic Auditory Toxicity in Late Preterm and Term Infants With Significant Hyperbilirubinemia. Pediatrics. 2017 Oct;140(4). pii: e20164009.{170}
- 172. Martínez-Cruz CF, García Alonso-Themann P, Poblano A, Ochoa-López JM. Hearing loss, auditory neuropathy, and neurological co-morbidity in children with birthweight <750 g. Arch Med Res. 2012 Aug;43(6):457-63.
- 173. May BJ, Lauer AM, Roos MJ. Impairments of the medial olivocochlear system increase the risk of noise-induced auditory neuropathy in laboratory mice. Otol Neurotol. 2011 Dec;32(9):1568-78.
- 174. de Paula-Vernetta C, Muñoz-Fernández N, Mas-Estellés F, Guzmán-Calvete A, Cavallé-Garrido L, Morera-Pérez C. Malformation of the eighth cranial nerve in children. Acta Otorrinolaringol Esp. 2016 Sep-Oct;67(5):275-81.
- 175. Rance G, Fava R, Baldock H, Chong A, Barker E, Corben L, et al. Speech perception ability in individuals with Friedreich ataxia. Brain. 2008 Aug;131(Pt 8):2002-12.
- 176. Shaia WT, Shapiro SM, Spencer RF. The jaundiced gunn rat model of auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony. Laryngoscope. 2005 Dec;115(12):2167-73.
- 177. Olds C, Oghalai JS. Audiologic impairment associated with bilirubin-induced neurologic damage. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2015 Feb;20(1):42-46.
- 178. Morlet T, Rabinowitz MR, Looney LR, Riegner T, Greenwood LA, Sherman EA, et al. A homozygous SLITRK6 nonsense mutation is associated with progressive auditory neuropathy in humans. Laryngoscope. 2014 Mar;124(3):E95-103.
- 179. Rodríguez-Ballesteros M, Reynoso R, Olarte M, Villamar M, Morera C, Santarelli R, et al. A multicenter study on the prevalence and spectrum of mutations in the otoferlin gene (OTOF) in subjects with nonsyndromic hearing impairment and auditory neuropathy. Hum Mutat. 2008 Jun;29(6):823-31.
- 180. Runge CL, Erbe CB, McNally MT, Van Dusen C, Friedland DR, Kwitek AE, et al. A novel otoferlin splice-site mutation in siblings with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Audiol Neurootol. 2013;18(6):374-82.
- 181. Matsunaga T, Mutai H, Kunishima S, Namba K, Morimoto N, Shinjo Y, et al. A prevalent founder mutation and genotype-phenotype correlations of OTOF in Japanese patients with auditory neuropathy. Clin Genet. 2012 Nov;82(5):425-32.
- 182. Santarelli R, Del Castillo I, Rodríguez-Ballesteros M, Scimemi P, Cama E, Arslan E, et al. Abnormal cochlear potentials from deaf patients with mutations in the otoferlin gene. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol. 2009 Dec;10(4):545-56.
- 183. Han KH, Oh DY, Lee S, Lee C, Han JH, Kim MY, et al. ATP1A3 mutations can cause progressive auditory neuropathy: a new gene of auditory synaptopathy. Sci Rep. 2017 Nov 28;7(1):16504.

- 184. Santarelli R, del Castillo I, Cama E, Scimemi P, Starr A. Audibility, speech perception and processing of temporal cues in ribbon synaptic disorders due to OTOF mutations. Hear Res. 2015 Dec;330(Pt B):200-12.
- 185. Wang QJ, Li QZ, Rao SQ, Lee K, Huang XS, Yang WY, et al. AUNX1, a novel locus responsible for X linked recessive auditory and peripheral neuropathy, maps to Xq23-27.3. J Med Genet. 2006 Jul;43(7):e33.
- 186. Liberman MC, Tartaglini E, Fleming JC, Neufeld EJ. Deletion of SLC19A2, the high affinity thiamine transporter, causes selective inner hair cell loss and an auditory neuropathy phenotype. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol. 2006 Sep;7(3):211-7.
- 187. Tang HY, Fang P, Lin JW, Darilek S, Osborne BT, Haymond JA, et al. DNA sequence analysis and genotype-phenotype assessment in 71 patients with syndromic hearing loss or auditory neuropathy. BMJ Open. 2015;5(5):e007506.
- 188. Yildirim-Baylan M, Bademci G, Duman D, Ozturkmen-Akay H, Tokgoz-Yilmaz S, Tekin M. Evidence for genotype-phenotype correlation for OTOF mutations. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2014 Jun;78(6):950-3.
- 189. Bae SH, Baek JI, Lee JD, Song MH, Kwon TJ, Oh SK, et al. Genetic analysis of auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder in the Korean population. Gene. 2013 Jun 10;522(1):65-9.
- 190. Giraudet F, Avan P. Auditory neuropathies: understanding their pathogenesis to illuminate intervention strategies. Curr Opin Neurol. 2012 Feb;25(1):50-6.
- 191. Carvalho GM, Ramos PZ, Castilho AM, Guimarães AC, Sartorato EL. Molecular study of patients with auditory neuropathy. Mol Med Rep. 2016 Jul;14(1):481-90.
- 192. Gilels F, Paquette ST, Zhang J, Rahman I, White PM. Mutation of Foxo3 causes adult onset auditory neuropathy and alters cochlear synapse architecture in mice. J Neurosci. 2013 Nov 20;33(47):18409-24.
- 193. Bong JK, Jeong HJ, Jin HH, Hye-Rim P, Doo YO, Seungmin L, et al.Mutational and phenotypic spectrum of OTOF-related auditory neuropathy in Koreans: eliciting reciprocal interaction between bench and clinics. Journal of Translational Medicine. 2018;16:330.
- 194. Zong L, Guan J, Ealy M, Zhang Q, Wang D, Wang H, et al. Mutations in apoptosisinducing factor cause X-linked recessive auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. J Med Genet. 2015 Aug;52(8):523-31.
- 195. Delmaghani S, del Castillo FJ, Michel V, Leibovici M, Aghaie A, Ron U, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding pejvakin, a newly identified protein of the afferent auditory pathway, cause DFNB59 auditory neuropathy. Nat Genet. 2006 Jul;38(7):770-8.
- 196. Chiu YH, Wu CC, Lu YC, Chen PJ, Lee WY, Liu AY, et al. Mutations in the OTOF gene in Taiwanese patients with auditory neuropathy. Audiol Neurootol. 2010;15(6):364-74.

- 197. Romanos J, Kimura L, Fávero ML, Izarra FA, de Mello Auricchio MT, Batissoco AC, et al. Novel OTOF mutations in Brazilian patients with auditory neuropathy. J Hum Genet. 2009 Jul;54(7):382-5.
- 198. Grati FR, Lesperance MM, De Toffol S, Chinetti S, Selicorni A, Emery S, et al. Pure monosomy and pure trisomy of 13q21.2-31.1 consequent to a familial insertional translocation: exclusion of PCDH9 as the responsible gene for autosomal dominant auditory neuropathy (AUNA1). Am J Med Genet A. 2009 May;149A(5):906-13.
- 199. Chang MY, Kim AR, Kim NK, Lee C, Park WY, Choi BY. Refinement of Molecular Diagnostic Protocol of Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder: Disclosure of Significant Level of Etiologic Homogeneity in Koreans and Its Clinical Implications. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015 Nov;94(47):e1996.
- 200. de Carvalho GM, Z Ramos P, M Castilho A, C Guimarães A, L Sartorato E. Relationship Between Patients with Clinical Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder and Mutations in Gjb2 Gene. Open Neurol J. 2016;10:127-135.
- 201. Wang DY, Wang YC, Weil D, Zhao YL, Rao SQ, Zong L, et al. Screening mutations of OTOF gene in Chinese patients with auditory neuropathy, including a familial case of temperature-sensitive auditory neuropathy. BMC Med Genet. 2010 May 26;11:79.
- 202. Chen K, Liu M, Wu X, Zong L, Jiang H. Targeted next generation sequencing reveals OTOF mutations in auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2018 Dec;115:19-23.
- 203. Tranebjærg L, Strenzke N, Lindholm S, Rendtorff ND, Poulsen H, Khandelia H, et al. The CAPOS mutation in ATP1A3 alters Na/K-ATPase function and results in auditory neuropathy which has implications for management. Hum Genet. 2018 Feb;137(2):111-127.
- 204. Wang J, Fan YY, Wang SJ, Liang PF, Wang JL, Qiu JH. Variants of OTOF and PJVK genes in Chinese patients with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. PLoS One. 2011;6(9):e24000.
- 205. Schoen CJ, Emery SB, Thorne MC, Ammana HR, Sliwerska E, Arnett J, et al. Increased activity of Diaphanous homolog 3 (DIAPH3)/diaphanous causes hearing defects in humans with auditory neuropathy and in Drosophila. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Jul 27;107(30):13396-401.
- 206. Silva MA, Piatto VB, Maniglia JV. Molecular approach of auditory neuropathy. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol. 2015 May-Jun;81(3):321-8.
- 207. Emara AA, Gabr TA. Auditory steady state response in auditory neuropathy. J Laryngol Otol. 2010 Sep;124(9):950-6.
- 208. Schmidt CM, Huebner JR, Deuster D, Zehnhoff-Dinnesen AA, Knief A. A positive wave at 8 ms (P8) and modified auditory brainstem responses measurement in auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2012 May;76(5):636-41.
- 209. Berlin CI, Hood LJ, Morlet T, Wilensky D, St John P, Montgomery E, et al. Absent or elevated middle ear muscle reflexes in the presence of normal otoacoustic emissions: a universal finding in 136 cases of auditory neuropathy/dys-synchrony. J Am Acad Audiol. 2005 Sep;16(8):546-53.

- 210. Jafari Z, Malayeri S, Ashayeri H, Farahani MA. Adults with auditory neuropathy: comparison of auditory steady-state response and pure-tone audiometry. J Am Acad Audiol. 2009 Nov-Dec;20(10):621-8.
- 211. Muluk NB, Yalçinkaya F, Arikan OK, Cirpar O, Kaygusuz S, Ercan V. Are serum levels of trace elements in children with auditory neuropathy within normal limits? - A pilot study. Clin Invest Med. 2010 Jun 1;33(3):E155-160.
- 212. Chandan HS, Prabhu P. Audiological changes over time in adolescents and young adults with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2015 Jul;272(7):1801-7.
- 213. Mo L, Yan F, Liu H, Han D, Zhang L. Audiological results in a group of children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec. 2010;72(2):75-9.
- 214. Dimitrijevic A, Starr A, Bhatt S, Michalewski HJ, Zeng FG, Pratt H. Auditory cortical N100 in pre- and post-synaptic auditory neuropathy to frequency or intensity changes of continuous tones. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011 Mar;122(3):594-604.
- 215. Takata Y, Kawase T, Nakasato N, Kanno A, Kobayashi T. Auditory evoked magnetic fields in patients with absent brainstem responses due to auditory neuropathy with optic atrophy. Clin Neurophysiol. 2012 May;123(5):985-92.
- 216. Ngo RY, Tan HK, Balakrishnan A, Lazaroo D, Lim SB, Yan J. Auditory neuropathy detected by universal newborn hearing screening. Cochlear Implants Int. 2004 Sep;5 Suppl 1:206-8.
- 217. Berlin CI, Morlet T, Hood LJ. Auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony: its diagnosis and management. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2003 Apr;50(2):331-40, vii-viii.
- 218. Michalewski HJ, Starr A, Nguyen TT, Kong YY, Zeng FG. Auditory temporal processes in normal-hearing individuals and in patients with auditory neuropathy. Clin Neurophysiol. 2005 Mar;116(3):669-80.
- 219. Sahu P, Mishra R, Mahallik D, Ansari I, Mungutwar V. Central recruitment in individual with auditory neuropathy. Indian J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2014 Dec;66(4):455-9.
- 220. Sinha SK, Shankar K, Sharanya R. Cervical and Ocular Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potentials Test Results in Individuals with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorders. Audiol Res. 2013 Jun 17;3(1):e4.
- 221. Shi W, Ji F, Lan L, Liang SC, Ding HN, Wang H, et al. Characteristics of cochlear microphonics in infants and young children with auditory neuropathy. Acta Otolaryngol. 2012 Feb;132(2):188-96.
- 222. Wang J, Jin L, Chen J, Fang X, Liao Z. Clinical relationship between auditory neuropathy and nervous system diseases. Pak J Med Sci. 2017;33(6):1495-1500.
- 223. James AL, Dixon PR, Harrison RV. Cochlear Nerve Aplasia with Detectable Olivocochlear Efferent Function: A Distinct Presentation of Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. Audiol Neurootol. 2018;23(1):39-47.
- 224. Sharma A, Cardon G. Cortical development and neuroplasticity in Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. Hear Res. 2015 Dec;330(Pt B):221-32.
- 225. Apeksha K, Kumar UA. Cortical processing of speech in individuals with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2018 Jun;275(6):1409-1418.
- 226. Shetty HN, Kooknoor V. Deep band modulated phrase perception in quiet and noise in individuals with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder and sensorineural hearing loss. Noise Health. 2017 Jul-Aug;19(89):174-182.
- 227. Gardner-Berry K, Chang H, Ching TY, Hou S. Detection Rates of Cortical Auditory Evoked Potentials at Different Sensation Levels in Infants with Sensory/Neural Hearing Loss and Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. Semin Hear. 2016 Feb;37(1):53-61.
- 228. Franck KH, Rainey DM, Montoya LA, Gerdes M. Developing a Multidisciplinary Clinical Protocol to Manage Pediatric Patients with Auditory Neuropathy. Seminars in Hearing. 2000; 23(2):225-237.
- 229. Narne VK, Barman A, Deepthi M. Effect of companding on speech recognition in quiet and noise for listeners with ANSD. Int J Audiol. 2014 Feb;53(2):94-100.
- 230. Narne VK, Vanaja CS. Effect of envelope enhancement on speech perception in individuals with auditory neuropathy. Ear Hear. 2008 Jan;29(1):45-53.
- 231. McMahon CM, Patuzzi RB, Gibson WP, Sanli H. Frequency-specific electrocochleography indicates that presynaptic and postsynaptic mechanisms of auditory neuropathy exist. Ear Hear. 2008 Jun;29(3):314-25.
- 232. He S, Grose JH, Teagle HF, Woodard J, Park LR, Hatch DR, et al. Gap detection measured with electrically evoked auditory event-related potentials and speech-perception abilities in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Ear Hear. 2013 Nov-Dec;34(6):733-44.
- 233. Wang J, Jiang X, Shan C. Influence on Vestibular Function by Auditory Neuropathy. Journal of Otology. 2013;8(2):112-113.
- 234. Riggs WJ, Roche JP, Giardina CK, Harris MS, Bastian ZJ, Fontenot TE, et al. Intraoperative Electrocochleographic Characteristics of Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder in Cochlear Implant Subjects. Front. Neurosci.2017 Jul;11(416).
- 235. Sinha SK, Barman A, Singh NK, Rajeshwari G, Sharanya R. Involvement of peripheral vestibular nerve in individuals with auditory neuropathy. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2013 Aug;270(8):2207-14.
- 236. Wynne DP, Zeng FG, Bhatt S, Michalewski HJ, Dimitrijevic A, Starr A. Loudness adaptation accompanying ribbon synapse and auditory nerve disorders. *Brain*. 2013;136(Pt 5):1626-38.
- 237. Oda K, Kawase T, Takata Y, Miyazaki H, Hidaka H, Kobayashi T. Masking effects in patients with auditory neuropathy-possible involvement of suppression mechanism caused by normal outer hair cell function. Otol Neurotol. 2013 Jul;34(5):868-76.

- 238. Wang L, Wang Z, Gao F, Peng KA. Modiolar ossification in paediatric patients with auditory neuropathy. J Laryngol Otol. 2017 Jul;131(7):598-601.
- 239. Michalewski HJ, Starr A, Zeng FG, Dimitrijevic A. N100 cortical potentials accompanying disrupted auditory nerve activity in auditory neuropathy (AN): effects of signal intensity and continuous noise. Clin Neurophysiol. 2009 Jul;120(7):1352-63.
- 240. Santarelli R, Starr A, Michalewski HJ, Arslan E. Neural and receptor cochlear potentials obtained by transtympanic electrocochleography in auditory neuropathy. Clin Neurophysiol. 2008 May;119(5):1028-41.
- 241. He S, Teagle HF, Roush P, Grose JH, Buchman CA. Objective hearing threshold estimation in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder.Laryngoscope. 2013;123(11):2859-61.
- 242. Hood LJ, Berlin CI, Bordelon J, Rose K. Patients with auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony lack efferent suppression of transient evoked otoacoustic emissions. J Am Acad Audiol. 2003 Aug;14(6):302-13.
- 243. Sanyelbhaa Talaat H, Khalil LH, Khafagy AH, Alkandari MM, Zein AM. Persistence of otoacoustic emissions in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorders. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2013 May;77(5):703-6.
- 244. Cardon G, Campbell J, Sharma A. Plasticity in the developing auditory cortex: evidence from children with sensorineural hearing loss and auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. J Am Acad Audiol. 2012 Jun;23(6):396-411; quiz 495.
- 245. Prabhu PP, Chandan HS. Psychoacoustic Characteristics of Tinnitus in Individuals with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. Audiol Res. 2014;4(1):108.
- 246. Yalçinkaya F, Muluk NB, Ataş A, Keith RW. Random Gap Detection Test and Random Gap Detection Test-Expanded results in children with auditory neuropathy. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2009 Nov;73(11):1558-63.
- 247. Psarommatis I, Voudouris C, Kapetanakis I, Athanasiadi F, Douros K. Recovery of Abnormal ABR in Neonates and Infants at Risk of Hearing Loss. Int J Otolaryngol. 2017;2017:7912127.
- 248. Emami SF, Farahani F. Saccular dysfunction in children with sensorineural hearing loss and auditory neuropathy/auditory dys-synchrony. Acta Otolaryngol. 2015;135(12):1298-303.
- 249. Lee JS, McPherson B, Yuen KC, Wong LL. Screening for auditory neuropathy in a school for hearing impaired children. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2001 Oct 19;61(1):39-46.
- 250. Prabhu P, Avilala V, Barman A. Speech perception abilities for spectrally modified signals in individuals with auditory dys-synchrony. Int J Audiol. 2011 May;50(5):349-52.
- 251. Kumar UA, Jayaram M. Speech perception in individuals with auditory dyssynchrony: effect of lengthening of voice onset time and burst duration of speech segments. J Laryngol Otol. 2013 Jul;127(7):656-65.

- 252. Apeksha K, Kumar AU. Speech Perception in Quiet and in Noise Condition in Individuals with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. J Int Adv Otol. 2017 Apr;13(1):83-87.
- 253. Narne VK. Temporal processing and speech perception in noise by listeners with auditory neuropathy. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e55995.
- 254. Vinay, Moore BC. Ten(HL)-test results and psychophysical tuning curves for subjects with auditory neuropathy. Int J Audiol. 2007 Jan;46(1):39-46.
- 255. James AL. The assessment of olivocochlear function in neonates with real-time distortion product otoacoustic emissions. Laryngoscope. 2011 Jan;121(1):202-13.
- 256. Wang S, Dong R, Liu D, Wang Y, Liu B, Zhang L, et al. The Role of Temporal Envelope and Fine Structure in Mandarin Lexical Tone Perception in Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. PLoS One. 2015 Jun 8;10(6):e0129710.
- 257. Lu Y, Zhang Q, Wen Y, Ji F, Chen A, Xi X, et al. The SP-AP compound wave in patients with auditory neuropathy. Acta Otolaryngol. 2008 Aug;128(8):896-900.
- 258. Narne VK, Prabhu PP, Chatni S. Time-frequency analysis of transient evokedotoacoustic emissions in individuals with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Hear Res. 2014 Jul;313:1-8.
- 259. Shaheen LA, Valero MD, Liberman MC. Towards a Diagnosis of Cochlear Neuropathy with Envelope Following Responses. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol*. 2015;16(6):727-45.
- 260. Zhang QJ, Lan L, Shi W, Wang DY, Qi Y, Zong L, et al. Unilateral auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Acta Otolaryngol. 2012 Jan;132(1):72-9.
- 261. Sazgar AA, Yazdani N, Rezazadeh N, Yazdi AK. Vestibular evoked myogenic potential (VEMP) in patients with auditory neuropathy: Auditory neuropathy or audiovestibular neuropathy? Acta Otolaryngol. 2010 Oct;130(10):1130-4.
- 262. Sheykholeslami K, Kaga K, Murofushi T, Hughes DW. Vestibular function in auditory neuropathy. Acta Otolaryngol. 2000 Oct;120(7):849-54.
- 263. Gates GA, Feeney MP, Higdon RJ. Word recognition and the articulation index in older listeners with probable age-related auditory neuropathy. J Am Acad Audiol. 2003 Dec;14(10):574-81.
- 264. Matsumoto M, Sekiya T, Kojima K, Ito. JAn animal experimental model of auditory neuropathy induced in rats by auditory nerve compression. Exp Neurol. 2008 Mar;210(1):248-56.
- 265. Salvi RJ, Wang J, Dalian D, Stecker N, Arnold S. . Auditory deprivation of the central auditory system resulting from selective inner hair cell loss: Animal model of auditory neuropathy. Scandinavian audiology. 1999; Suppl 51:1-12.
- 266. Hong BN, Kang TH. Auditory neuropathy in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mouse. Neurosci Lett. 2008 Feb 6;431(3):268-72.

- 267. Rapin I, Gravel J. "Auditory neuropathy": physiologic and pathologic evidence calls for more diagnostic specificity. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2003 Jul;67(7):707-28.
- 268. Lepcha A, Chandran RK, Alexander M, Agustine AM, Thenmozhi K, Balraj A. Neurological associations in auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: Results from a tertiary hospital in South India. Ann Indian Acad Neurol 2015;18:171-80.
- 269. Cowper-Smith CD, Dingle RN, Guo Y, Burkard R, Phillips DP. Synchronous auditory nerve activity in the carboplatin-chinchilla model of auditory neuropathy. J Acoust Soc Am. 2010;128(1):EL56-62.
- 270. Wang L, Guan J, Wang H, Lan L, Zhang Q, Zong L, et al. Understanding auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: a systematic review in transgenic mouse models. Sci China Life Sci. 2016 May;59(5):480-6.
- 271. Ramirez J, Mann V. Using auditory-visual speech to probe the basis of noiseimpaired consonant-vowel perception in dyslexia and auditory neuropathy. J Acoust Soc Am. 2005 Aug;118(2):1122-33.
- 272. Nassiri AM, Yawn RJ, Brown CL, O'Malley MR, Bennett ML, Labadie RF, et al. Unilateral Versus Bilateral Cochlear Implantation in Children With Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder (ANSD). Otol Neurotol. 2018 Oct;39(9):e810-e816.
- 273. Stuermer KJ, Beutner D, Streicher B, Foerst A, Felsch M, Lang-Roth R, et al. The correlation between ECochG parameters and early auditory behavior after cochlear implantation in children. Int J Audiol. 2015 Jul;55(7):412-8.
- 274. He S, Abbas PJ, Doyle DV, McFayden TC, Mulherin S. Response Properties of the Auditory Nerve in Implanted Children with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder and Implanted Children with Sensorineural Hearing Loss. Ear Hear. 2016 Jul-Aug;37(4):397-411.
- 275. Pelosi S, Rivas A, Haynes DS, Bennett ML, Labadie RF, Hedley-Williams A, et al. Stimulation rate reduction and auditory development in poorly performing cochlear implant users with auditory neuropathy. Otol Neurotol. 2012 Dec;33(9):1502-6.
- 276. Fernandes NF, Yamaguti EH, Morettin M, Costa OA. Speech perception in users of hearing aid with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Codas. 2016 Jan-Feb;28(1):22-6.
- 277. de Carvalho GM, Ramos P, Arthur C, Guimarães A, Sartorato E. Performance of Cochlear Implants in Pediatric Patients with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. J Int Adv Otol. 2016 Apr;12(1):8-15.
- 278. Wang LE, Wang Z, Zhang DX, Cao KL. Application of intraoperative round window electrocochleography for screening the patients with auditory neuropathy. Chin Med J (Engl). 2009 Apr 20;122(8):941-4.
- 279. Yuvaraj P, Jayaram M. Audiological Profile of Adult Persons with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorders. J Audiol Otol. 2016;20(3):158-167.
- 280. Kaga K. Auditory nerve disease and auditory neuropathy spectrum disorders. Auris Nasus Larynx. 2016 Feb;43(1):10-20.

- 281. Attias J, Greenstein T, Peled M, Ulanovski D, Wohlgelernter J, Raveh E. Auditory Performance and Electrical Stimulation Measures in Cochlear Implant Recipients With Auditory Neuropathy Compared With Severe to Profound Sensorineural Hearing Loss. Ear Hear. 2017 Mar/Apr;38(2):184-193.
- 282. Mathai JP. Behavioural and Electrophysiological Correlates of Aided Performance in Individuals with Late Onset Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder: A Review. J Audiol Otol. 2018 Oct;22(4):171-177.
- 283. Walker E, McCreery R, Spratford M, Roush P. Children with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder Fitted with Hearing Aids Applying the American Academy of Audiology Pediatric Amplification Guideline: Current Practice and Outcomes. J Am Acad Audiol. 2016 Mar;27(3):204-18.
- 284. Ji F, Li JN, Yang SM. Cochlear implant as an intervention in patients with auditory neuropathy. J Otology. 2013;8(2):77-81.
- 285. Anderson P, Schaefer S, Henderson L, Bruce IA. Cochlear implantation in children with auditory neuropathy: Lessons from Brown-Vialetto-Van Laere syndrome. Cochlear Implants Int. 2019 Jan;20(1):31-38.
- 286. Kim LS, Jung SW, Park YD, Heo MJ. Cochlear implantation in paediatric auditory neuropathy. Cochlear Implants Int. 2004 Sep;5 Suppl 1:224-5.
- 287. He S, Grose JH, Teagle HF, Buchman CA. Objective measures of electrode discrimination with electrically evoked auditory change complex and speechperception abilities in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Ear Hear. 2014 May-Jun;35(3):e63-74.
- 288. Shallop JK, Peterson A, Facer GW, Fabry LB, Driscoll CL. Cochlear implants in five cases of auditory neuropathy: postoperative findings and progress. Laryngoscope. 2001 Apr;111(4 Pt 1):555-62.
- 289. Hong BN, Yi TH, Park R, Kim SY, Kang TH. Coffee improves auditory neuropathy in diabetic mice. Neurosci Lett. 2008 Aug 29;441(3):302-6.
- 290. Yuvaraj P, Mannarukrishnaiah J. Cortical Evoked Potentials and Hearing Aids in Individuals with Auditory Dys-Synchrony. J Int Adv Otol. 2015 Dec;11(3):236-42.
- 291. Adams ME, Edwards BM, Kileny PR. Different manifestations of auditory neuropathy. Cochlear Implants Int. 2010 Jun;11 Suppl 1:148-52.
- 292. Balan JR, Maruthy S. Dynamics of Speech Perception in the Auditory-Visual Mode: An Empirical Evidence for the Management of Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorders. J Audiol Otol. 2018;22(4):197-203.
- 293. Prabhu P, Barman A. Effectiveness of Low Cut Modified Amplification using Receiver in the Canal Hearing Aid in Individuals with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. Int Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2017 Jul;21(3):243-249.
- 294. Prabhu P, Barman A. Effectiveness of low-cut modified amplification strategy and channel-free hearing aid in individuals with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Int J Audiol. 2017 Oct;56(10):759-766.

- 295. Hosoya M, Minami SB, Enomoto C, Matsunaga T, Kaga K. Elongated EABR wave latencies observed in patients with auditory neuropathy caused by OTOF mutation. Laryngoscope Investig Otolaryngol. 2018 Sep 24;3(5):388-393.
- 296. Kaga K, Akamatsu Y, Ogata E, Shiroma M, Ishimoto S, Ito K, et al. Environmental sound perception in adult patients with cochlear implants: a comparison with central auditory disorders. Cochlear Implants Int. 2004 Sep;5 Suppl 1:90-2.
- 297. Nash-Kille A, Sharma A. Inter-trial coherence as a marker of cortical phase synchrony in children with sensorineural hearing loss and auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder fitted with hearing aids and cochlear implants. Clin Neurophysiol. 2014 Jul;125(7):1459-70.
- 298. Gökdoğan Ç, Altınyay Ş, Gündüz B, Kemaloğlu YK, Bayazıt Y, Uygur K. Management of children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder (ANSD). Braz J Otorhinolaryngol. 2016 Sep-Oct;82(5):493-9.
- 299. Ji F, Li JN, Liu K, Jiao QS, Sun L, Hong MD, et al. NRT test in auditory neuropathy patients with cochlear implants. Acta Otolaryngol. 2014 Sep;134(9):930-42.
- 300. Young NM, Kim FM, Ryan ME, Tournis E, Yaras S. Pediatric cochlear implantation of children with eighth nerve deficiency. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2012 Oct;76(10):1442-8.
- 301. Narne VK, Vanaja CS. Perception of envelope-enhanced speech in the presence of noise by individuals with auditory neuropathy. Ear Hear. 2009 Feb;30(1):136-42.
- 302. Mathai JP, Appu S. Perception of Hearing Aid-Processed Speech in Individuals with Late-Onset Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. J Am Acad Audiol. 2015 Nov-Dec;26(10):815-23.
- 303. Narne VK, Vanaja CS. Perception of speech with envelope enhancement in individuals with auditory neuropathy and simulated loss of temporal modulation processing. Int J Audiol. 2009;48(10):700-7.
- 304. Lee MY, Bae SH, Chang SY, Lee JH, Kim SH, Ahn JC, et al. Photobiomodulation by laser therapy rescued auditory neuropathy induced by ouabain. Neurosci Lett. 2016 Oct 28;633:165-173.
- 305. Rance G, Barker EJ, Sarant JZ, Ching TY. Receptive language and speech production in children with auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony type hearing loss. Ear Hear. 2007 Sep;28(5):694-702.
- 306. Rance G, Barker EJ. Speech and language outcomes in children with auditory neuropathy/dys-synchrony managed with either cochlear implants or hearing aids. Int J Audiol. 2009;48(6):313-20.
- 307. Name VK, Vanaja CS. Speech Identification with Temporal and Spectral Modification in Subjects with Auditory Neuropathy. ISRN Otolaryngology. 2012; 2012:7.
- 308. Uhler K, Heringer A, Thompson N, Yoshinaga-Itano C. A tutorial on auditory neuropathy/dyssynchrony for the speech-language pathologist and audiologist. Semin Speech Lang. 2012 Nov;33(4):354-66.

- 309. D'Agostino JA, Austin L. Auditory neuropathy: a potentially under-recognized neonatal intensive care unit sequela. Adv Neonatal Care. 2004 Dec;4(6):344-53.
- 310. Nash R, Veness J, Wyatt M, Raglan E, Rajput K. Vestibular function in children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2014 Aug;78(8):1269-73.
- 311. Prabhu P. Evaluation of Depression, Anxiety, and Stress in Adolescents and Young Adults with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. Scientifica (Cairo). 2016;2016:4378269.
- 312. Abbas PJ, Brown CJ. Assessment of responses to cochlear implant stimulation at different levels of the auditory pathway. Hear Res. 2015 Apr;322:67-76.
- 313. Korver AM, van Zanten GA, Meuwese-Jongejeugd A, van Straaten HL, Oudesluys-Murphy AM. Auditory neuropathy in a low-risk population: a review of the literature. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2012 Dec;76(12):1708-11.
- 314. Norrix LW, Velenovsky DS. Auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder: a review. J Speech Lang Hear Res. 2014 Aug;57(4):1564-76.
- 315. Starr A1, Rance G. Auditory neuropathy. Handb Clin Neurol. 2015;129:495-508.
- 316. Uhlen I, Duan ML. Auditory neuropathy-a rare condition where CI provides improved hearing and speech development. Journal of Otology.2009; 4(1): 108.
- 317. de Carvalho GM, Ramos P, Arthur C, Guimarães A, Sartorato E. Performance of Cochlear Implants in Pediatric Patients with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder. J Int Adv Otol. 2016 Apr;12(1):8-15.
- 318. Hang AX, Roush PA, Teagle HF, Zdanski C, Pillsbury HC, Adunka OF, et al. Is "no response" on diagnostic auditory brainstem response testing an indication for cochlear implantation in children? Ear Hear. 2015 Jan;36(1):8-13.
- 319. Carlson ML, Sladen DP, Haynes DS, Driscoll CL, DeJong MD, Erickson HC, et al. Evidence for the expansion of pediatric cochlear implant candidacy. Otol Neurotol. 2015 Jan;36(1):43-50.
- 320. Beck RM, Grasel SS, Ramos HF, Almeida ER, Tsuji RK, Bento RF, et al. Are auditory steady-state responses a good tool prior to pediatric cochlear implantation? Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2015 Aug;79(8):1257-62.